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PART |
Special Note Regarding Forwa-Looking Statements

Information included or incorporated by refereneéehis Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardking statements. All forward-
looking statements are inherently uncertain as #reybased on current expectations and assumgiorcerning future events or future
performance of the Company. Readers are cautiooetd place undue reliance on these forwlaaking statements, which are only predicti
and speak only as of the date hereof. Forward-tapktatements usually contain the words “estimdgticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” or
similar expressions, and are subject to numeroasvkrand unknown risks and uncertainties. In evalgatuch statements, prospective
investors should carefully review various risks amdertainties identified in this Report, includitigg matters set forth under the captioRgsk
Factors” and in the Company'’s other SEC filingse3érisks and uncertainties could cause the Conyaatual results to differ materially
from those indicated in the forward-looking statetse The Company undertakes no obligation to upadiapeiblicly announce revisions to any
forward-looking statements to reflect future evestslevelopments.

Although forward-looking statements in this Ann&®aport on Form 10-K reflect the good faith judgmehour management, such statements
can only be based on facts and factors currentiyvknby us. Consequently, forward-looking statemansinherently subject to risks and
uncertainties and actual results and outcomes iifi@y thaterially from the results and outcomes di&sed in or anticipated by the forward-
looking statements. Factors that could cause ariboite to such differences in results and outcomelside, without limitation, those
specifically addressed under the heading “RiskdfadRelated to Our Business” below, as well asahtiscussed elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Readers are urged not to pladee reliance on these forwdabking statements, which speak only as of the datkis
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We file reports witle tBecurities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Yamu read and copy any materials we
file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Rpt00 F. Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Yau @btain additional information
about the operation of the Public Reference Rooroatiing the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In additiore, #EC maintains an Internet site
(www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy andrimfation statements, and other information regardisgers that file electronically with the
SEC, including us.

We undertake no obligation to revise or update famyward4ooking statements in order to reflect any eventimumstance that may arise af
the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Readee urged to carefully review and consider theous disclosures made throughout the
entirety of this annual report, which attempt tove@ interested parties of the risks and factoet thay affect our business, financial conditi
results of operations and prospects.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Business

Headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah, ZAGG Incogted designs, manufactures and distributes pieéecbverings, audio accessories and
power solutions for consumer electronic and harid-tievices under the brand names invisibleSHIELZ®GGaudio™, and ZAGGskins™.

Our flagship product, invisibleSHIELD, is made frenprotective film covering that was developed ioiadly to protect the leading edges of
rotary blades of military helicopters. We deterndirtieat this same film product could be configuredittonto the surface of electronic devices
and marketed to consumers for use in protecting dewices from everyday wear and tear; includingtsbes, scrapes, debris and other su
blemishes. The film also permits touch sensitiviiganing it can be used on devices that have &tstreen interface. The invisibleSHIELD
film material is highly reliable and durable siritevas originally developed for use in a high figet, high velocity context within the aerospace
industry. The film provides long lasting protectifam the surface of electronic devices subjectdomal wear and tear. The film is a form of
polyurethane substance, akin to a very thin, pdiatiéxible and durable clear plastic that adhévdbe surface and shape of the object it is
applied to.

The invisibleSHIELD is designed specifically foroids ® , laptops, cell phones, digital cameras, BDVsdch faces, GPS systems, gaming
devices, and other items. The product is “cuffittepecific devices and packaged together withagstare activating solution which makes the
invisibleSHIELD adhere to the surface of the deyliterally “like a second skin,” and virtually ifsible to the eye. The patent-pending
invisibleSHIELD is the first scratch protection stibn of its kind on the market. The invisibleSHIE is not ornamental, but rather provides a
long lasting barrier to preserve the brand new lobthe surface of an electronic device. Curre@&GG offers over 4,000 precision pre-cut
designs with a lifetime replacement warranty thitoogline channels, big-box retailers, electronfmscialty stores, resellers, college
bookstores, Mac stores, and mall kiosks. We plandrease our product lines to offer new elect@tcessories to our tech-savvy customer
base, as well as an expanded array of invisible§BIEroducts for other industries. Given the amgznccess of the invisibleSHIELD,
ZAGG has the unique opportunity to offer additioaetessories from a trusted source to gadget eagisisworldwide.




The ZAGGaudio line of electronics accessories andyrcts was released in late 2008, and focusesrmvation and superior value. The
flagship products within ZAGGaudio are the awardning ZAGGbuds™ and ZAGGsmartbuds™ lines. Previeumiers of the coveted CES
Design and Innovation award, they have been velyregeived by professional reviewers, experts tnedconsumer base. Other headphone,
speaker and audio products have been releasedikibe weleased in the coming months and years.

ZAGGskins were introduced in November 2009, andlmom customizable, high-resolution images withgbeatch protection of ZAGG’s
invisibleSHIELD. To create a ZAGGskin, consumeezkest from a library of professional designs oroal their own high-resolution personal
photos or images. The printed image, custom dedidor their device, is then merged with the exgkrisultra-tough, patented
invisibleSHIELD film, which allows customers to Imoprotect and individualize their gadgets withragte product.

We maintain our corporate offices and operatioaeility at 3855 South 500 West, Suites B, C, J.l&nd R, Salt Lake City, Utah, 84115. The
telephone number of the Company is 801-263-069%. vigbsite address is www.ZAGG.com

Strategy

At ZAGG, we are' Z ealousA boutG reat G adgets.” We believe that hand-held devices and gadgets beee developed to be aesthetically
pleasing as designed and that bulky silicone, iglastleather cases impede the overall end usejsyment of the form and function of their
device. Consumers purchase these types of ac@sssmhelp protect their devices from getting sztrad and damaged. The invisibleSHIELD
provides the end consumer with an alternative tlybcases that provides unparalleled device priateatithout impeding the functionality ai
enjoyment of the consumers’ device.

We will continue to expand our product offering dadus on innovative products and services thatavetarget market to our customers based
on their purchase history. When a customer pueshan invisibleSHIELD from ZAGG, we know exactly attiype of device they have, as the
invisibleSHIELD is custom cut for each device. Mhat information we can develop specific markgftans to sell additional products
including power supplies, car chargers, ear budsagimer accessory items. Our current lines of ssmy items, including our brands
ZAGGaudio and ZAGGskins, are available to our congls through our website at www.ZAGG.camd through our retail distribution
channels as well.

As we continue to develop and enhance our brandraard reputation, we anticipate entering into &oltit complementary industries to
provide support to our invisibleSHIELD product line

Design and Packaging

We design and cut thenvisibleSHIELD product for application on thousanaf specific electronic devices. We acquire raatarials from
third party sources that are delivered to our iteed and assembled for packaging. In additionpwiesource high volume precision-cutting of
the materials, which we consider to be more cdstéfe. We then package the configured matetasther with an installation kit consisting
of a moisture adhesive-activating solution, a sgaeeeand instructions for application on specifzgonic devices. We also outsource some
of these packaging processes to independent thiteep. We have developed relationships with pgelessembly, shipping, and logistics
companies that allow us to expand our productiahsripping capacity as we continue to grow.

We have a patent pending on the process of wragpirentire gadget body in a transparent, duraldesami-permanent film. We also custom
design each cutout for the film and currently ham&ue designs for over 4,000 devices. The cudesigns are developed internally and ov
exclusively by us. We do not own the patent ferblase materials, but believe that our relationgfitip the manufacturer of the raw material is
on excellent terms and anticipate no interruptioour ability to acquire adequate supplies of ttaamals and produce products.

We have developed our retail packaging with thelirgf major retailers to appeal to the end consumnea retail basis. We have designed the
cardboard box packaging to be informative and etitra for point-of-sale displays.




Market for Products

The portable electronic device market, notably hatdl devices, is continuing to see advancemergsiformance and functionality in existing
models. Furthermore, the market is expanding aeaged by new product developments in portabletieric devices. Correspondingly, the
aesthetics of such devices is increasingly impottathe extent that buyers are considering th& &al feel of such devices, as much as
performance, in making their purchasing decisions.

As a result, an industry and significant market é&@erged in protecting portable electronic devioesably the “high end” devices — both in
terms of price, and design/functionality. Consunaesseeking ways to protect the device from wedrtear and damage, but not impede the
look, feel, or functionality of the device.

We sell the invisibleSHIELD directly, and througbralistributors and retail sellers, to consumerslettronic household and hand-held
devices. We sell a significant amount of prodoctifse on Apple’s iPod and iPhone devices. ThisilmeSHIELD covers and protects the
iPod and iPhone without detracting in any mannemfthe look and feel of the device or its functiitya The handheld electronics industry
continued to market and develop devices with taahken interfaces. The invisibleSHIELD is the Idizvice protection offering for these
types of gadgets, as it does not interfere withfinetionality of the device while offering compescratchproof protection. We will continue
to focus our marketing efforts around these tygaegadgets as the premier protection solution wimigéntaining the overall form and
functionality of the device.

To date, we have not partnered with any manufatreelectronic devices to bundle our productdiwiich devices on initial sale, or to
include as part of the device, the applicationwfproducts. In the future, we may seek such aangagment or an alternative co-marketing
agreement, but we have not entered into definitegotiations for such an arrangement as yet.

Market Segments

With over 4,000 invisibleSHIELD products/producnéigurations available, we have a protective cowvgfor all major market segments of
handheld electronic devices, including: iPodseptirand MP3 players, PDAs, cell phones, laptoss @evices, watch faces, and similar
devices and surfaces. We intend to continue toigord the invisibleSHIELD product for use in nevdgveloped consumer devices. Unlike
manufacturers of competing device cases that nesdhs to design and manufacture customized acdesgor new devices, the
invisibleSHIELD can be quickly configured and pagke for new devices as they enter the consumeretpace, making the
invisibleSHIELD available for purchase ahead of peting accessories for new electronic devices.

One of our fastest growing market segments isriertsphone consumer. Most often, smart phone lsuaerdrawn to the device by its elec
design, as well as its easy-to-use functionalipwever, everyday use often mars the finish on rawstrt phone devices, screen and other
areas that receive wear and tear. Traditionakptivte products are bulky and detract from a siplaohe’s elegance by covering it up. Other
common protectors either do not offer enough ptatecor they are not durable enough to properbtegxt the device. However, an
invisibleSHIELD covering is exactly that — inviséb meaning it does not cover up the design, farfarctionality of the smart phone and
doesn't inhibit the touch sensitivity for smart ples with touch screen technology.

As sales of electronics continue to grow, we apétg that sales of our complimentary products eudititinue to grow, as well. Four of the
largest areas of our market opportunities relatmates of iPods, cellular telephones, digital ca®@nd gaming systems. According to industry
sources, over 54,100,000 iPods and over 20,700/08ihes were sold in Apple Corporation’s most rééisnal year. Over 1.21 billion cell
phones were sold worldwide in 2009. Over 106,000 digital cameras were sold in 2009. Sony’s R8& ever 60,000,000 units as of
December 2009 and Nintendo’s DS Lite sold over Q23,000 units during the same period. ZAGG istpmsed to serve all of these markets
with its after-market invisibleSHIELD products.




Marketing and Distribution

We sell our products directly on our website, tlgtowlistributors, through kiosk vendors in shoppimglls and retail centers, and through
electronics retailers. Our products are availétnesale worldwide via our website. Currently wivartise our products on the Internet and
through point of sale displays at retail locatiolge also advertise our products on televisionrané both locally and nationally. We intend

to expand our advertising while continuing our atigang strategy over the course of 2010. We &e seeking to create strategic partnerships
with makers of cellular phone devices and electragicessories.

Indirect Channels

We sell our invisibleSHIELD products through inditehannels including big box retailers, domestid aternational distributors, independ
Apple retailers, university bookstores and smalkipendently owned consumer electronics storesthéoyear ended December 31, 2009, we
sold approximately $22,504,284 of product througgse indirect channels, or approximately 58% ofowarall net sales for 2009. We require
all indirect channel partners to enter into a leselgreement with us.

We continue to utilize multiple distributors to rkat and place our products for sale in the UnitiedeS and abroad. We have entered into
distribution agreements for many geographic loeceimcluding the United States, United Kingdom, #ai$a, Hong Kong, Saudi Arabia, So
Korea, Mexico, Germany and South America for theketng, distribution and sale of our products.

We are continuously negotiating for new distribatielationships in the United States and abroadd®ase the marketing and sale of our
products in retail locations.

Website Sales

We sell our products worldwide directly to consusnen our website at www.ZAGG.comFor the year ended December 31, 2009, we sold
approximately $11,000,315 of product on our websiteapproximately 29% of our overall net salesZ009.

We also generated revenue from shipping chargessiomers. For the year ended December 31, 2009ewerated approximately
$1,527,034 from shipping charges, or approximatétyof our overall net sales for 2009.

Mall Kiosk Vendors

We sell our invisibleSHIELD products to kiosk vendors in shappimalls and retail centers. We enter into agredsneith such vendors who
purchase the products and resell them to consuni@nsthe year ended December 31, 2009, we soldbzippately $3,220,039 of product, or
approximately 9% of our overall net sales for 2aB8ough our corporate owned mall carts and tonkeel cart owners. The third party licen
cart owners are required to enter into a standeedse and resale agreement with us wherein weelsar upfront license fee that is recogni
into revenue over the life of the license. Forykar ended December 31, 2009, we recognized $103¢dated to these license agreements.

Company Organization

Our operations are divided and organized as follomarketing and sales, which includes the developraed maintenance of our website,
customer service, production, distribution and ghig, art and graphics, product design, and gerehladministration functions.




Competitors

Our chief competitors are companies that develogketand sell protective devices for consumer ebmits. The market for sales to
consumers for “after market” accessories for etettr devices is very competitive. We are awarsashe companies who have developed
similar products to our invisibleSHIELD productsngsinferior films. There are numerous companies sell protective devices for cell
phones, iPods, MP3 players, laptop and computeeasrand similar devices, none of which have spatifins similar to our products. Rather
such products tend to be larger, bulkier, heageramental and visually distracting, and coverdésign and features of the device, rather than
enhance its design. These products are typicalgarirom leather, plastic or silicone. While wenpete with such companies for sales to
consumers generally, we do not consider such gttoglucts per se to be competitive to the invisiblES.D.

Warranties

We offer a lifetime guaranty of the durability afiro invisibleSHIELD products. If the invisibleSHIELD iever scratched or damaged (in the
course of normal use), a customer simply needsrid back the old product and we will replace itffee.

Intellectual Property Rights:
Patents

We have been awarded patent number US 607,87%ly.8 Patent and Trademark Office, issued on Jgrika 2010. The patent covers,
among other things, design elements of ZAGG'’s papdAGGbuds in-ear headphones.

We have filed a patent application for a Protec@owering for Electronic Device with the United ®t®atent and Trademark Office. The
patent relates to the field of protective coveriagd systems and methods for covering such dewiteghin films. This includes both partial
coverings and full coverings as 0222646/0523.

We have filed for a patent application for Headsgighh Earphones for new functionality for ZAGGbudsyr popular in-ear headphones as
12/650976.

We have filed for Protective Covering with a Cusizable Image for An Electronic Device related to @AGGskin products.
Trademarks

We have received the following Trademarks withlthited States Patent and Trademark Office as wetase with * as currently pending
applications with the United States Patent and direatk Office.

« SHIELD ZONE, Serial Number 77146706

« SHIELD DESIGN TRADEMARK, Serial Number 771482

« INVISIBLE SHIELD, Serial Number 7709691

« INVISBILE SHIELD (with stylized logo image and sldedesign)*
o ZAGGskins*

o ZAGGbox*

We have filed the following Trademark Applicationgh the United States Patent and Trademark Office:

o INVISIBLESHIELD
« ZAGG

« APPSPACE

« ZAGGBOX

« ZAGGAUDIO




We also claim common law trademark rights to tHe¥ang marks: “ShieldZone,” “ShieldSpray,” “Iniviise Invincible,” “Protect Your Digital
Life,” “Ultimate Scratch Protection,” “Rise Above;ZAGGbuds,” “ZAGGfoam,” “ZAGGwipes,” “Zealous AbduGreat Gadgets,”
“ZAGGskins,” “ZAGGsparq” “Z.buds” “ZAGGsmartbuds;Z.buds Edge,” “ZAGGbox,” “AppSpace” and “Enhanciagd Protecting the
Mobile Experience.”

We have also received the following Trademark Aggdlons with the European Community, Australia, glétong, Korea, Mexico and Japan:

« ZAGG, CTM No. 00632821- EU

o ZAGG, Reg. No. 523473- JAPAN

o ZAGG, Reg. No. 126612- AUSTRALIA

« ZAGG, Reg. No. 30121775 HONG KONG
o ZAGG, No. 4(-200¢-004805C- KOREA

« ZAGG, Reg. No. 1098228 - MEXICO

We have filed the following Trademark Applicationgh the trademark offices in the European Comnmyuaitd India:
« INVISIBLE SHIELD with Design

We have filed for Trademark Applications for APPSEFAIn the following jurisdictions:

« United States

« Canada

« European Communit
« Australia

« China

« Japar

Government Regulations

Our operations are subject to various federalestat local employee workplace protection regufatiocluding OSHA. We believe that
compliance with federal, state and local environtaleprotection regulations will not have a mateddierse effect on our capital expenditures,
earnings and competitive and financial positiorithdugh we believe that our worker and employeetggirocedures are adequate and in
compliance with law, we cannot completely elimingite risk of injury to our employees, or that weyneacasionally, unintentionally, be out
compliance with application law. In such eventaoald be liable for damages or fines or both.

Employees

We have 97 full-time employees and 25 part timelegges including our management team. We haverayees in sales and marketing
including our website and design, 11 in generalahdinistration, 9 in operations, 7 in technologpmort, and 28 customer service agents.
have 22 employees employed on an hourly or pae-tasis at our retail cart/kiosk locations. No ke is represented by a labor union, and
we have never suffered an interruption of busimassed by labor disputes.

Our Corporate History

We were formed as a Nevada corporation on Api2®4, under the name Amerasia Khan Enterprise$'BtdE”). On February 8, 2007,
AKE executed an Agreement and Plan of Merger (Merger Agreement”) by and between AKE and its whollvned subsidiary, SZC
Acquisition, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Subsigifaon the one hand, and ShieldZone Corporatiddieh corporation (“ShieldZone”) on the
other hand. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, &igle merged with Subsidiary, with ShieldZone sting the merger and Subsidiary
ceasing to exist (the “Merger”).

Following the Merger, ShieldZone was reincorporateNevada as a subsidiary of AKE. On March 7, 2@hieldZone was merged up and
into AKE. At that time, AKE changed its name to Z&Gncorporated, and the operations of the survigntity (ZAGG Incorporated) are
solely that of ShieldZone. As a result of thes@msactions, the historical financial statement8AGG Incorporated are the historical financial
statements of ShieldZone. The fiscal year end®fQbmpany is December 31.

We changed our name from ShieldZone CorporatiddMGG Incorporated to better position the companidoome a large and encompassing
enterprise in the electronics’ accessories indubtigugh organic growth and through making targeteglisitions. The ShieldZone name was
very specific to the invisibleSHIELD product linadhalthough the invisibleSHIELD is and will contmto be our core product, the name
change will enable us the opportunity to easily ade products to our product offering. ZAGG willntmue to search out other compliment
proven products and companies that fit the ZAGEstifle and strategy for fast growth.




ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to our Financial Conditio

If we are unable to maintain our accounts receivald financing, we could face a deficiency in our shbterm cash needs that would
negatively impact our business.

We have secured an accounts receivable finanaiegpli credit from an independent finance organirainstitution that allows us to sell
selected accounts receivable invoices to the fiahirstitution in the amount of $4 million. Thisqvides us with the cash needed to finance
certain costs and expenses. At December 31, 28®08ad financing availability, based on eligible@ents receivable, of $3.5 million under
this line. We pay fees based on the length of tima¢ the invoice remains unpaid. Our accountsivable financing lender may decide to
cease subsequent advances at any time in its tilisgrepon our failure to meet certain contractegjuirements or upon the occurrence of
certain events or contingencies that are out oftouatrol. In such event, our short-term cash meguénts may exceed available cash on hand
resulting in material adverse consequences to asinbss.

Risks Related to our Company and Busing

Because sales in consumer electronic accessories dependent on new products, product development drconsumer acceptance, we
could experience sharp decreases in our sales anefit margin if we are unable to continually introd uce new products and achieve
consumer acceptance.

Currently, we generate substantially all of ouesdtom our consumer and mobile electronics acciessbusiness. We cannot assure you that
we can grow the revenues of our business or maiptaifitability. Our consumer accessories businEggends, to a large extent, on the
introduction and availability of innovative prode@nd technologies. Significant sales of our preglircthe niche consumer electronic
accessories market have fueled the recent growtlirobusiness. We believe that our future succdssgl@pend in large partly upon our ability
to enhance our existing products and to develdgmdunce and market new products and improvemendsit@xisting products.

If we are not able to continually introduce newdarots that achieve consumer acceptance, our sadegsrafit margins may decline. Our
revenues and profitability will depend on our dlitio maintain and generate additional customedscavelop new products. A reduction in
demand for our existing products would have a nedtadverse effect on our business. The sustaihabfl current levels of our business and
the future growth of such revenues, if any, wilbded on, among other factors:

the overall performance of the economy and disanetly consumer spendir
competition within key market:

customer acceptance of newly developed productsamnices, an

the demand for other products and servi

We cannot assure you that we will maintain or inseeour current level of revenues or profits frees from the consumer and mobile
electronics accessories business in future periods.

While we are pursuing and will continue to pursuvedpict development opportunities, there can bessarance that such products will comu
fruition or become successful. Furthermore, whiteuenber of those products are being tested, weatgmovide any definite date by which
they will be commercially available. We cannot gdevassurance that these products will prove toopemercially viable. We may experience
operational problems with such products after consiakintroduction that could delay or defeat thdity of such products to generate reve

or operating profits. Future operational problerosld increase our costs, delay our plans or adlyeasfect our reputation or our sales of other
products which, in turn, could have a material agge=ffect on our success and our ability to satist obligations. We cannot predict whick
the many possible future products will meet evalvimdustry standards and consumer demands. We tarovide assurance that we will be
able to adapt to such technological changes, effeh products on a timely basis or establish ontaai a competitive position.




Because we face intense competition, including comition from companies with significantly greater resources than ours, if we are
unable to compete effectively with these companiesur market share may decline and our business calibe harmed.

Our market is highly competitive with numerous catifprs. Some of our competitors may have substiintireater financial, technical,
marketing, and other resources than we possesshwiay afford them competitive advantages overAssa result, our competitors may
introduce products that have advantages over agugts in terms of features, functionality, easas#, and revenue producing potential. 1
may also have more fully developed sales chanoelsohsumer sales including large retail sellearmgements and international distribution
capabilities. In addition, new companies may etitermarkets in which we compete, further increasimmpetition in the consumer electronics
accessories industry. We may not be able to congueteessfully in the future, and increased comipatinay result in price reductions,
reduced profit margins, loss of market share anishalility to generate cash flows that are suffitis® maintain or expand our development
and marketing of new products, which would advgrgabact the trading price of our common shares.

Because we are dependent on a third party source &quire sufficient quantities of raw materials toproduce our products, any
interruption in that relationship could harm our re sults of operations and our revenues.

We acquire substantially all of our raw materidiattwe use in our products from two suppliers. Adowly, we can give no assurance that:

our supplier relationships will continue as prebeint effect,

our suppliers will not become competitc

our suppliers will be able to obtain the componem@tsessary to produce h-quality, technologicall-advanced products for L

we will be able to obtain adequate alternativesuiosupply sources should they be interrup

if obtained, alternatively sourced products of Hatitory quality would be delivered on a timely ibascompetitively pricet
comparably featured or acceptable to our custoraed

= our suppliers have sufficient financial resouraefutfill its obligations.

Our inability to supply sufficient quality and qu#ies of products that are in demand could redugeprofitability and have a material adverse
effect on our relationships with our customersuf supplier relationship was terminated or intpted, we could experience an immediate or
long-term supply shortage, which could have a nedtadverse effect on our business.

Because we do not develop the technology for ourguiucts or conduct research into advancing the quaii of our products, the impact
of technological advancements may cause price erosiand adversely impact our profitability and invertory value

Since we do not make any of our own products andad@onduct our own research, we cannot assuréhatwe will be able to source
technologically advanced products in order to rentampetitive. Furthermore, the introduction orested introduction of new products or
technologies may depress sales of existing produnzigechnologies. This may result in declining@siand inventory obsolescence. Since we
maintain a substantial investment in product inggntdeclining prices and inventory obsolescenaddchave a material adverse effect on our
business and financial results.

Our estimates of excess and obsolete inventorypraye to be inaccurate; in which case the provisemuired for excess and obsolete
inventory may be understated or overstated. Aljhone make every effort to ensure the accuracyofarecasts of future product demand,
any significant unanticipated changes in demarteéahnological developments could have a significapiact on the value of our inventory
and operating results.




If we fail to maintain proper inventory levels, our business could be harmed.

We produce our products prior to the time we rezestomers’ orders. We do this to minimize purtigasosts, the time necessary to fill
customer orders and the risk of non-delivery. Hosvewe may be unable to sell the products we hasdyzed in advance. Inventory levels in
excess of customer demand may result in inventoiteswlowns, and the sale of excess inventory atodisted prices could significantly impair
our brand image and have a material adverse effeotir operating results and financial conditioon@rsely, if we underestimate demand for
our products or if we fail to produce the qualitpgucts that we require at the time we need theenmay experience inventory shortages.
Inventory shortages might delay shipments to custsymegatively impact distributor relationshipsg @iminish brand loyalty.

Because we are dependent for our success on keyarae officers, our inability to retain these offcers would impede our business plan
and growth strategies, which would have a negativienpact on our business and the value of your investent.

Our success depends on the skills, experience enfiolrmance of key members of our management tealmdimg Mr. Robert G. Pedersen II,
our CEO, and Brandon T. O’Brien, our CFO. We dolmote an employment agreement with Mr. Pedersdfr o®©’Brien. We do not have
employment agreements with any other members of@nior management team. Each of those individuigfeout long-term employment
agreements may voluntarily terminate his employmétit the Company at any time upon short noticer&\ee to lose one or more of these
key executive officers, we would be forced to expsignificant time and money in the pursuit of plaeement, which would result in both a
delay in the implementation of our business plash tiie diversion of working capital. We can give yauassurance that we can find
satisfactory replacements for these key execufffieeos at all, or on terms that are not unduly exgive or burdensome to our company.
Although we intend to issue stock options or otguity-based compensation to attract and retairl@rees, such incentives may not be
sufficient to attract and retain key personnel.

We do not have minimum purchase quantities from ourcustomers in our customer contracts.

Sales of our products are made by written purcbeders and are terminable at will by either paFiye unexpected loss of all or a significant
portion of sales to any one of our large custoraetdd have a material adverse effect on our perdoca.

If we falil to attract, train and retain sufficient numbers of our qualified personnel, our prospectshusiness, financial condition and
results of operations will be materially and adversly affected.

Our success depends to a significant degree upoabdlity to attract, retain and motivate skilledequalified personnel. Failure to attract and
retain necessary technical personnel, sales ankktireg personnel and skilled management could agWeaffect our business. If we fail to
attract, train and retain sufficient numbers okthaighly qualified people, our prospects, businfsancial condition and results of operations
will be materially and adversely affected.

If our products contain defects, our reputation cold be harmed and our results of operations adversglaffected.

Some of our products may contain undetected deflertdo imperfections in the underlying base matetised for our invisibleSHIELD
product line, or manufacturing defects relateduoaudio and charging products. The occurrencesfefals or malfunctions could result in
financial losses for our customers and in turnéased warranty claims from our customers and doseis our resources. Any of these
occurrences could also result in the loss of caylel market acceptance of our products and lossles.

Because we experience seasonal and quarterly fluetions in demand for our products, no one quarters indicative of our results of
operations for the entire fiscal year.

Our quarterly results may fluctuate quarter to tpraas a result of market acceptance of our pradtioe mix, pricing and presentation of the
products offered and sold, the hiring and trairohgdditional personnel, the timing of inventoryiterdowns, the cost of materials, the
incurrence of other operating costs and factor®béyur control, such as general economic conditeord actions of competitors. We are also
affected by seasonal buying cycles of consumerdy aa the holiday season, and the introductioropifar consumer electronics, such as a
new introduction of products from Apple CorporatioAccordingly, the results of operations in anyadar will not necessarily be indicative of
the results that may be achieved for a full figesr or any future quarter.




Because we have limited protection on the intellegal property underlying our products, we may not beable to protect our products
from the infringement of others and may be preventd from marketing our products.

We do not own proprietary rights with respect te tim we use in our products. We have a patentipenwith respect to the covering of
electronic devices with clear protective films.addition, we own and keep confidential the desigmnfigurations of the film and the product
designs which are our copyrights. We seek to ptatecintellectual property rights through confitiatity agreements with our employees,
consultants and partners. However, no assuranckecgiven that such measures will be sufficiemgratect our intellectual property rights or
that the intellectual property rights that we have sufficient to protect other persons from creatind marketing substantially similar
products. If we cannot protect our rights, we ma@selour competitive advantage. Moreover, if itégetimined that our products infringe on the
intellectual property rights of third parties, wayrbe prevented from marketing our products.

Any claims relating to the infringement of thirdspaproprietary rights, even if not meritoriousutd result in costly litigation, divert
management’s attention and resources, or requite either enter into royalty or license agreemevtich are not advantageous to us or pay
material amounts of damages. In addition, partieking these claims may be able to obtain an itjoncwhich could prevent us from selling
our products.

The current economy is depressing consumer spendipgtterns, which could adversely affect our busines

Consumer spending patterns, especially discretyosaending for products such as mobile, consumgraanessory electronics, are affected
among other things, prevailing economic conditi@rergy costs, raw material costs, wage ratestiofl, interest rates, consumer debt
consumer confidence and consumer perception ofomeienconditions. A general slowdown in the U.S. apdain international economies or
an uncertain economic outlook could have a matadsérse effect on our sales and operating results.

The recent disruptions in the national and intéomat economies and financial markets and theedlatcreases in unemployment are
depressing consumer confidence and spending. lif smaditions persist, consumer spending will likegcline further and this would have an
adverse effect on our business and our resultpafations.

If we are unable to effectively manage our growthour operating results and financial condition willbe adversely affected.

We intend to grow our business by expanding owssaldministrative and marketing organizations. growth in or expansion of our busin

is likely to continue to place a strain on our nggraent and administrative resources, infrastruauacesystems. As with other growing
businesses, we expect that we will need to refiteexpand our business development capabilitiessymiems and processes and our access t
financing sources. We also will need to hire, traimpervise and manage new employees. These pescasstime consuming and expensive,
will increase management responsibilities and eitert management attention. We cannot assurehatuste will be able to:

expand our systems effectively or efficiently omitimely manner

allocate our human resources optima

meet our capital need

identify and hire qualified employees or retainued employees; ¢

incorporate effectively the components of any bessor product line that we may acquire in ourreffoachieve growtr

Our inability or failure to manage our growth angbansion effectively could harm our business antenedly and adversely affect our
operating results and financial condition.
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If our competitors misappropriate our proprietary k now-how and trade secrets, it could have a materiadverse affect on our business.

We depend heavily on the expertise of our prodadigam. If any of our competitors copies or otheeagains access to similar products
independently, we might not be able to competeffastevely. The measures we take to protect ouighssmay not be adequate to prevent their
unauthorized use. Further, the laws of foreign tdes may provide inadequate protection of sucélliectual property rights. We may need to
bring legal claims to enforce or protect such ietglial property rights. Any litigation, whethercsgssful or unsuccessful, could result in
substantial costs and diversions of resourcesddiitian, notwithstanding the rights we have secuneaur intellectual property, other persons
may bring claims against us that we have infringedheir intellectual property rights or claimsttar intellectual property right interests are
not valid. Any claims against us, with or withouérit, could be time consuming and costly to defentitigate and therefore could have an
adverse affect on our business.

If our facilities were to experience catastrophicdss, our operations would be seriously harmed.

Our facilities could be subject to a catastropbgslfrom fire, flood, earthquake or terrorist aityivAll of our activities, including
manufacturing, our corporate headquarters and atiteral business operations are in one locatidny catastrophic loss at this facility could
disrupt our operations, delay production, and reeesnd result in large expenses to repair or replae facility. While we have obtained
insurance to cover most potential losses, we caasgire you that our existing insurance coverafiédeiadequate against all other possible
losses.

If our internal controls over financial reporting are not considered effective, our business and stogkice could be adversely affected.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 meguis to evaluate the effectiveness of our intewmtrols over financial reporting as of the
end of each fiscal year, and to include a managereport assessing the effectiveness of our intewratrols over financial reporting in our
annual report on Form 10-K for that fiscal yearr @anagement, including our chief executive offiaed principal financial officer, does not
expect that our internal controls over financigaing will prevent all error and all fraud. A dool system, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absaatirance that the control system’s objectivid@imet. Further, the design of a control
system must reflect the fact that there are regocmostraints, and the benefits of controls mustdmsidered relative to their costs. Because of
the inherent limitations in all control systems,ewvaluation of controls can provide absolute asmedhat all control issues and instances of
fraud involving a company have been, or will beedeed. The design of any system of controls ietas part on certain assumptions abou
likelihood of future events, and we cannot assae that any design will succeed in achieving iédext goals under all potential future
conditions. Over time, controls may become ineffecbecause of changes in conditions or deterimméti the degree of compliance with
policies or procedures. Because of the inhereritdiions in a cost-effective control system, missteents due to error or fraud may occur and
not be detected. We cannot assure you that werdndependent registered public accounting firm ndlt identify a material weakness in our
internal controls in the future. A material weaka@sour internal controls over financial reportiwguld require management and our
independent registered public accounting firm tosider our internal controls as ineffective. If anternal controls over financial reporting are
not considered effective, we may experience adbgsiblic confidence, which could have an advefseceon our business and on the market
price of our common stock. For the year ended Déesr@1, 2009, our independent registered publioau@ant, Hansen, Barnett & Maxwell,
P.C., was required under Section 404 of the Sah@xtey Act of 2002 to audit or give an opiniontbe effectiveness of our internal

controls. While our internal controls did not harey identified material weaknesses for the yededrDecember 31, 2009, Hansen, Barnett &
Maxwell, P.C. will be required to audit the effegthess of our internal controls and determine wdrethy material deficiencies exist in the
future. There is a risk that Hansen, Barnett & MahwP.C. will not be able to determine that we mi@ined, in all material respects, effective
internal control over our financial reporting asi#cember 31, 2010. In addition to the risk thahs¢m, Barnett & Maxwell, P.C. may not be
able to determine that we maintained effectiverirdecontrols, any failure to develop or maintaffeetive controls, or difficulties encountered
in their implementation, or other effective impravent of our internal controls could harm our operatesults.
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Because we distribute products internationally, eawomic, political and other risks associated with ouinternational sales and operation:
could adversely affect our operating results.

Since we sell our products worldwide, our businesaibject to risks associated with doing busim@gsnationally. Our sales to customers
outside the United States accounted for approximat2s of our revenue from continuing operationgisical 2009. Accordingly, our future
results could be harmed by a variety of factorsluiding:

changes in foreign currency exchange re

exchange control:

changes in regulatory requiremer

changes in a specific country's or region's palitar economic condition:

tariffs, other trade protection measures and impoexport licensing requiremen
potentially negative consequences from changesxitatvs or application of such tax lav
difficulty in staffing and managing widespread ct@ns;

changing labor regulation

requirements relating to withholding taxes on réanites and other payments by subsidia
different regimes controlling the protection of antellectual property

restrictions on our ability to own or operate sdizgiies, make investments or acquire new businéssbese jurisdictions; ar
restrictions on our ability to repatriate dividerfdsm our subsidiaries

Our international operations are affected by gl@zainomic and political conditions. Changes innecoic or political conditions in any of the
countries in which we operate could result in exgjearate movement, new currency or exchange carradther restrictions being imposec
our operations.

Risks Related to the Compa’'s Securities

Because the price of our common stock has been, antay continue to be, volatile our shareholders magot be able to resell shares of
our common stock at or above the price paid for sutshares.

The price for shares of our common stock has etgdiiigh levels of volatility with significant votoe and price fluctuations, which makes our
common stock unsuitable for many investors. Fongxa, for the two years ended December 31, 20@5ltising price of our common stock
ranged from a high of $7.55 to a low of $0.60 gers. At times, the fluctuations in the price of oammon stock may have been unrelated to
our operating performance. These broad fluctuatinag negatively impact the market price of shafemio common stock. The price of our
common stock may also have been influenced by:

fluctuations in our results of operations or thempions of our competitors or custome

the aggregate amount of our outstanding debt arcéptons about our ability to make debt servicgnpents;

failure of our results of operations and salesmees to meet the expectations of stock market atsa@nd investor:
reductions in demand or expectations regardingéutemand by our custome

changes in stock market analyst recommendatiorssdemy us, our competitors or our custom

the timing and announcements of technological iations, new products or financial results by uswrcompetitors
increases in the number of shares of our commark stotstanding; an

changes in our industr

Based on the above, we expect that our stock piiiteontinue to be extremely volatile. Therefovee cannot guarantee that our investors will
be able to resell our common stock at or abovetiee at which they purchased it.
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Because we may, at some time in the future, issudditional securities, shareholders are subject toitlition of their ownership.

Although we have no plans to raise additional edpite may at some time in the future do so. Arghsgsuance would likely dilute
shareholders’ ownership interest in our companyraag have an adverse impact on the price of oumoamstock. In addition, from time to
time we may issue shares of common stock in cororeeatith equity financing activities or as incer@&/to our officers and business partners.
We may expand the number of shares available wsidek incentive and option plans, or create newlall issuances of common stock
would be dilutive to your holdings in our compalifyyour holdings are diluted, the overall valueyoiur shares may be diminished and your
ability to influence shareholder voting will alse harmed.

If our common stock fails to meet the listing requiements of NASDAQ and is delisted from trading ontte NASDAQ, the market price
of our common stock could be adversely affected.

Our common stock is currently listed on the NASD&@bal Select Market under the symbol “ZAGG”. ThASDAQ's listing requirements
include a requirement that, for continued listiag,issuer's common shares trade at a minimum lxée pf $1.00 per share. This requirement is
deemed breached when the bid price of an issuension shares closes below $1.00 per share for @ecative trading days. Our stock is
not currently trading at below $1.00, and close#i&2 at December 31, 2009. If we were to traglev $1.00 for 30 consecutive days, we
may transfer our stock listing to the NASDAQ Cablitarket following receipt of a notice of delistiragd receive an additional six month gi
period to regain compliance, take certain othepastto increase our stock price prior to beingstiedl from NASDAQ or otherwise challenge
any action by NASDAQ to delist our common stockefie can be no assurance that these actions validmessful in maintaining our listing
on NASDAQ or the trading market for our stock. @lidting of our common stock from the NASDAQ orransfer to the Capital Market tier
NASDAQ could adversely affect the liquidity of tirading market for our stock and therefore the retpkice of our common stoc

Limitations on director and officer liability and i ndemnification of our officers and directors by usmay discourage stockholders from
bringing suit against a director.

Our articles of incorporation and bylaws providéhveertain exceptions as permitted by governigestaw, that a director or officer shall not
be personally liable to us or our stockholdershi@ach of fiduciary duty as a director, exceptdots or omissions which involve intentional
misconduct, fraud or knowing violation of law, arlawful payments of dividends. These provisions miggourage stockholders from bring
suit against a director for breach of fiduciaryydahd may reduce the likelihood of derivative Eiigpn brought by stockholders on our behalf
against a director. In addition, our articles afdrporation and bylaws may provide for mandatodemnification of directors and officers to
the fullest extent permitted by governing state.law

Because we do not expect to pay dividends for theréseeable future, investors seeking cash dividendisould not purchase our commo
stock.

We currently intend to retain any future earningsupport the development and expansion of ounkasiand do not anticipate paying cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. Our paymerinyffuture dividends will be at the discretionoof board of directors after taking into
account various factors, including but not limitecour financial condition, operating results, casleds, growth plans and the terms of any
credit agreements that we may be a party to dirtiee In addition, our ability to pay dividends oar common stock may be limited by state
law. Accordingly, investors must rely on saleshdit Common Stock after price appreciation, whichymever occur, as the only way to
realize their investment.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer own or control at least 20% of our outstandingcommon stock, which may limi
your ability and the ability of our other stockholders, whether acting alone or together, to proposer direct the management or overall
direction of our company. Additionally, this concenration of ownership could discourage or prevent gotential takeover of our
Company that might otherwise result in shareholderseceiving a premium over the market price for ourshares.

We estimate that approximately 20% of our outstagmdhares of common stock are owned and contrbifezir Chief Executive Officer and
our Chief Financial Officer. Such concentratedtoarof our company may adversely affect the pa€eur common stock. Our principal
stockholders may be able to control matters reggiaipproval by our stockholders, including the &becof directors, mergers or other busin
combinations. Such concentrated control may alakenit difficult for our stockholders to receivgpgemium for their shares of our common
stock in the event we merge with a third party meeinto different transactions which require &tomlder approval. These provisions could
also limit the price that investors might be wiflito pay in the future for shares of our commorlstéccordingly, the existing principal
stockholders together with our directors and exeeudfficers will have the power to control the&len of our directors and the approval of
actions for which the approval of our stockholdsreequired. If you acquire shares, you may haveffective voice in the management of the
Company.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Real Property

Our principal executive offices facilities are antly located in 24,000 square feet of office aratelouse space located at 3855 South 500
West, Suites B, C, J, K, L and R, Salt Lake Cit}atu84115. In June 2009, we signed a master Egreement covering all of the suites that
expires June 30, 2014 at a monthly lease rate 4680. We also lease office facilities located /500 square feet of office space located at
470 North University Avenue, Provo, Utah. In J@2889, we signed a lease agreement that expireslay2910 at a monthly lease rate of
$1,350. We believe these facilities are adequatéhe foreseeable future.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not presently party to any legal proceedingie are not aware of any pending legal proceettinghich any of our officers, directors,
or any beneficial holders of 5% or more of our mgtsecurities are adverse to us or have a maietéabst adverse to us.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO AVOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year en@etember 31, 2009, no matter was submitted to @ efosecurity holders.
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
Our common stock is currently quoted on The Nastiapgjtal Market of The Nasdaq Market under the syidd@sG. The following table sets

forth, for each full quarterly period within the dwnost recent fiscal years, the high and low saliees (in dollars per share) of our common
stock as reported or quoted on The Nasdaq Capaaked.

2009 Quarter Ended High Low
December 31, 200 $ 6.8 $ 3.5¢
September 30, 20( $ 758 % 4.8C
June 30, 200 $ 7.01 $ 1.8¢
March 31, 200¢ $ 220 % 0.9C

2008 Quarter Ended High Low
December 31, 200 $ 1.0¢ $ 0.6C
September 30, 20( $ 117 % 0.6t
June 30, 200 $ 08z $ 0.5¢
March 31, 200¢ $ 097 $ 0.5¢
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Holders of Common stock

At March 12, 2010, there were approximately 46stgied holders or persons otherwise entitled td bot common shares pursuant to a
shareholders’ list provided by our transfer agEntpire Stock Transfer. The number of registeredetiolders excludes any estimate by us of
the number of beneficial owners of common sharés$inestreet name.

Dividends

There are no restrictions in our articles of in@ygtion or bylaws that restrict us from declaringdbends. The Nevada Revised Statutes,
however, do prohibit us from declaring dividendsend) after giving effect to the distribution of ttiwidend:

. We would not be able to pay our debts as they beatue in the usual course of busines:

= Our total assets would be less than the sum oftatat liabilities, plus the amount that would beeded to satisfy the rights
shareholders who have preferential rights supéoitinose receiving the distributio

We have not declared or paid cash dividends ortoommon stock since our inception, and our Boariodctors currently intends to retain all
earnings for use in the business for the foresedahlre. Any future payment or dividends to hetdef common stock will depend upon our
results of operations, financial condition, casljuieements, and other factors deemed relevant bBoard of Directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
Number of future
securities to Weighted- issuances
be issued average under equity
upon exercist  exercise price compensatiot
of of plans
outstanding outstanding (excluding
options, options, securities
warrants and warrants and  reflected in
Plan Category rights rights first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs| 2,111,20. $ 1.3¢ 2,254,50!

On November 13, 2007, the Board of Directors adbfiie ZAGG Incorporated 2007 Stock Incentive Plérergin we may issue an aggregate
of 2,000,000 options to purchase shares of our comstock or shares of our common stock. On Jul\2069, the Company’s shareholders
approved an amendment to the 2007 Incentive Plarctease the number of shares issuable undelOthi Iacentive Plan to 5,000,000. As of
December 31, 2009, there were 2,254,500 sharekableafor grant under the 2007 Incentive Plan.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

We issued options to purchase 1,181,500 sharesrafoonmon stock during the year ended Decembe2(@19.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related infotima shall not be deemed "soliciting material” diléd" with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, nor shall such information be incorgedaby reference into any future filing under tlee@ities Act of 1933 or Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, excep xtent we specifically incorporate it by referemtto such filing

The following graph compares the cumulative tokelreholder return on our common stock over theyizar period ended December 31, 2
with the cumulative total return during such peraddhe Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S. Companies) apelea group index composed of
consumer electronics accessory companies, the msrabehich are identified below (the “Peer Groufd) the same period. The following
graph assumes an initial investment of $100.00 diitidends reinvested. The stock performance showihe graph below represents histol
stock performance and is not necessarily indicaifiature stock price performance.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return
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The Peer Group consists of consumer electroniassaocy companies that have securities traded oNdabkdaq Stock Market. The members of
the Peer Group are: iGo, Inc., Plantronics Incm@xco, Inc., Logitech International, S.A., and Unisal Electronics Inc.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Selected Consolidated Financial Data (amounts in dusands, except per share data):

Year ended December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Net sales $ 38,361,74 $ 19,791,60 $ 513571 $ 2,777,031 $ 728,78t
Operating income (los: 5,710,05. 2,378,94! (1,237,550 (224,619 242 28.
Net income (loss 3,381,42! 2,098,96: (759,51) (141,25) 158,37t
Net income (loss) per shal

Basic $ 0.1¢ $ 011 $ (0.05) $ 0.0)) $ 0.0zZ

Diluted 0.1¢ 0.11 (0.05) (0.01) 0.0z
Weighted average shar¢

Basic 20,633,81 18,971,39 16,139,17 10,052,80 10,000,00

Diluted 22,989,03 19,265,22 16,139,17 10,052,80 10,000,00
BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Total asset $ 18,898,448 $ 845491 $ 3,724,13' $ 1,027,25 $ 316,71
Current assel 17,435,30 7,843,571 3,318,61 791,32( 233,09.
Current liabilities 5,011,51 2,638,18: 803,78t 870,79: 157,34:
Stockholder’ equity 13,886,96 5,816,72 3,364,46! 144,37: 159,37t
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSI S OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS

Certain statements, other than purely historicirmation, including estimates, projections, stagata relating to our business plans,
objectives, and expected operating results, andg¢eemptions upon which those statements are basetforward-looking statements” within
the meaning of the Private Securities LitigatioridRe Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities AEt1933 and Section 21E of the Securi
Exchange Act of 1934. These forward-looking statetmgenerally are identified by the words “beligVégroject,” “expects,” “anticipates,”
“estimates,” “intends,” “strategy,” “plan,” “may,will,” “would,” “will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expressions. We
intend such forward-looking statements to be cavésethe safe-harbor provisions for forward-lookstgtements contained in the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, and ameluding this statement for purposes of complyinthwhose safe-harbor provisions.
Forwardiooking statements are based on current expectaéiod assumptions that are subject to risks aneriamaties which may cause act
results to differ materially from the forward-lookj statements. Our ability to predict results erabtual effect of future plans or strategies is
inherently uncertain. Factors which could have #em adverse affect on our operations and fupnespects on a consolidated basis include,
but are not limited to: changes in economic condgj legislative/regulatory changes, availabilitgapital, interest rates, competition, and
generally accepted accounting principles. Theses asd uncertainties should also be consideredaluating forward-looking statements and
undue reliance should not be placed on such stattsmé/e undertake no obligation to update or repigaicly any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new informafidgnre events or otherwise. Further informationa@grning our business, including additional
factors that could materially affect our finandiesults, is included herein and in our other fifingith the SEC.

Overview

ZAGG, Inc. designs, manufactures and distributesegtive clear coverings and accessories for coasefectronic and hand-held devices
worldwide under the brand names invisibleSHIELD d@#dsGaudio. The invisibleSHIELD is a protectivégh-tech patented film covering,
designed for iPods, laptops, cell phones, digaaheras, PDAs, watch faces, GPS systems, gamingedewnd other items. The patgending
invisibleSHIELD application of clear protectiverfilcovering a device is the first scratch protectotution of its kind on the market, and has
sold millions of units. Currently, ZAGG offers aw,000 precision pre-cut designs with a lifetireplacement warranty through ZAGG.com,
major retailers like Best Buy, Radio Shack, andkt, resellers, college bookstores, Mac storel, kiwsks, and other online retailers. The
company continues to increase its product linesffer additional electronic accessories and sesviodts tech-savvy customer base.
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To recap our results for 2009:
« Our revenue grew 94% from $19.8 million in 200&88.4 million in 2009

« Our sales growth in 2009 was the result of stromgahd from customers in our indirect channel catedae to increased consur
adoption of our invisibleSHIELD product line andetladdition of new customers. Our sales throughveeivsite ZAGG.com ar
through our mall kiosk program also increased iso#tlite dollars over 2008, but decreased as a pageif overall sales due to
significant sales in the indirect chanr

« Our full year 2009 operating income increased b§% 4o $5.7 million from $2.4 million in 2008. Owvperating margin percente
increased from 12.0% in 2008 to 14.9% in 2009 dedpie decrease in our gross margin percentage 6% in 2008 to 57.5%
2009. The decrease in gross margin rate was dorully to sales mix, as a higher percentage oftotal sales was comprised of
lower-margin indirect channel sale

« Our full year 2009 fully diluted earnings per sharereased by 40.7% over 2008 while the numbehefes used in the fully dilut
earnings per share calculation increased by 19.3%glthe same perio

Our strategic business objectives for 2010 inclingefollowing:
« Continue to expand the distribution of our produbteugh additional indirect channel partne
« increase our SKUs with our existing customers;

« continue to grow our traffic and sales through websitewww.ZAGG.com; and

« continue to develop new products to introduce totech-savvy customer base.

We intend for the following discussion of our firtdel condition and results of operations to provigfermation that will assist in

understanding our consolidated financial stateménéschanges in certain key items in those fireratatements from period to period, and the
primary factors that accounted for those changesedl as how certain accounting principles, pebcand estimates affect our consolidated
financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial caodiand results of operations are based on oundiaastatements, which have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generadigepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). Theanation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and judgments tfeatt éfie reported amounts of assets, liabilitiesenues and expenses, and related disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities. On an omgdiasis, we evaluate our estimates based onib@texperience and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable tiieleircumstances, the results of which formitasis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities thatravereadily apparent from other sources. Actusiliits may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. Significastimates include the allowance for doubtful accepuimventory valuation allowances, sales
returns and warranty liability, the useful lifemfoperty and equipment, stock-based compensatipanse and income taxes.

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical ifédjuires an accounting estimate to be made basedsmmptions about matters that are hi
uncertain at the time the estimate is made, ikedéfit estimates reasonably may have been usdd;hariges in the estimate that are reasonably
likely to occur may materially impact the financ&htements. Management believes the followirticatiaccounting policies affect our more
significant judgments and estimates used in thpgregion of our consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue recognitiol

We record revenue when persuasive evidence ofrangegment exists or product delivery has occuttesisales price to the customer is fixed
or determinable, and collectability is reasonatsisused. Our revenue is derived from sales of cadlyrts through our indirect channel
including retailers and distributors and through divect channel including ZAGG.com and our corperavned mall kiosks, and from the fees
derived from the sale of exclusive independentithigtor licenses related to the kiosk program. $ales of product, our standard shipping
terms are FOB shipping point and we record reveviuen the product is shipped, net of estimated metand discounts. For some customers,
the contractual shipping terms are FOB destinafamthese shipments, we record revenue when theupt is delivered, net of estimated
returns and discounts. For license fees, we rézegavenue on a straight-line basis over thedifthe license term.

Any incentives received from vendors are recogniaed reduction of the cost of products. Promotipnaducts given to customers or poter
customers are recognized as a cost of sales. Geshtives provided to our customers are recograsesl reduction of the related sale price,
and, therefore, are a reduction in sales.

Reserve for Sales Returns and Warranty Liabil

Our return policy generally allows its end userd eetailers to return purchased products for refamnith exchange for new products within 30
days of end user purchase. Due to the natureedhthsibleSHIELD product line, returns are genlgrabt salvageable and are not included in
inventory. We estimate a reserve for sales retanasrecord that reserve amount as a reductioale$ and as a sales return reserve liability.

We generally provide the ultimate consumer a wayraith each product and accrue warranty expentieedtime of the sale based on our prior
claims history. Actual warranty costs incurred elnarged against the accrual when paid. Duringyélaes ended December 31, 2009, 2008
2007, warranty expense and the reserve for warteitiity, respectively, was not material.

Shipping and Handling Cost

Outbound shipping charges to customers are inclirdedles and were $1,527,034, $1,067,719 and $380or the years ended December 31,
2009, 2008 and 2007. Outbound shipping relatetscosluding picking, packaging and preparing costr orders for shipment, are included
in costs of sales and totaled $4,917,909, $2,2@7a89 $607,745 for the years ended December 38, 2008 and 2007.

Income taxes

The Company recognizes deferred income tax assétbiities for expected future tax consequenaksvents that have been recognized in
the financial statements or tax returns. Undex téthod, deferred income tax assets or liabil#resdetermined based upon the difference
between the financial statement and income taxsbafsassets and liabilities using enacted tax expgcted to apply when differences are
expected to be settled or realized. Deferred irectar assets are reviewed for recoverability artdatmn allowances are provided when it is
more likely than not that a deferred tax assebigealizable in the future. The effect on defénex assets and liabilities of a change in tax
rates is recognized in income in the period theluitles the enactment date.

Stock-based compensation
As required by generally accepted accounting pplesi the Company recognizes the cost resulting fith stock-based payment transactions
including shares issued under its stock optionglarthe financial statements based upon the &irevof such equity instruments granted. For

the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2@0i&csgnized stock-based compensation expenseésdf#R2, $406,064 and $845,000,
respectively, related to the issuance of commocksaod options issued under its stock incentive.pla
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Research and developme

Research and development costs, if any, are expessecurred. For the years ended December 8B, 2008 and 2007, research and
development costs were not material and includébdéraccompanying statements of operations in @iéng, general and administrative
expenses.

Advertising
General advertising is expensed as incurred.
Foreign Currency Transactions

Our primary operations are at the parent level Wwhises the U.S. dollar (USD) as our functionalency. The British Pound is the functional
currency of our operating subsidiary. The respedtialance sheets have been translated into U8I2 aixchange rates prevailing at each
balance sheet date. The respective statementseodtams have been translated into USD using theage exchange rates prevailing during
periods of each statement. The correspondinglatimis adjustments are included as part of stoakdrsl equity in the accompanying Financ
Statements.

Segment Reportin

The accounting guidance requires disclosures cetateomponents of a company for which separatnfifal information is available that is
evaluated regularly by our chief operating decisitakers in deciding how to allocate resources arassessing performance. Management
believes that we have only one reportable segmestdéordance with accounting guidance becauseusimdss consists of sales of consumer
electronics accessories, primarily related to tivesibleSHIELD product line.

Recent accounting pronouncemen

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢‘FASB”) issued ASC 810 (originally issued d&AS No. 167 Amendments to FASB
Interpretation No. 46(R. Among other items, ASC 810 responds to concepatahe application of certain key provisions tfIB6(R),
including those regarding the transparency of tvelvement with variable interest entities. ASC 84 @effective for calendar year companies
beginning on January 1, 2010. We do not beliegeattoption of ASC 810 will have a significant impan our financial position, results of
operations, cash flows, or disclosures.

On September 23, 2009, the FASB ratified Emergasgés Task Force Issue No. 0&Réyenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables
(“EITF 08-1"). EITF 08-1 updates the current guidamertaining to multiple-element revenue arranggsmiecluded in ASC Subtopic 605-25,
which originated primarily from EITF 00-21, alstled Revenue Arrangements with Multiple DeliverabldsITF 08-1 will be effective for
annual reporting periods beginning Januaryl, 20t tdlendar-year entities. We are currently evaigahe impact of EITF 08-1 on our
financial position, results of operations, caskvBpand disclosures.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our results of ofienas expressed as a percentage of net salesefpettiods indicated.
Year Ended December 31

(in thousands) 2009 2008 2007

Net sales $ 38,36: 100.(% $ 19,79: 100.(% $ 5,13¢ 100.(%
Cost of sales 16,30¢ 42.5 6,594 33.c 1,341 26.1
Gross profil 22,05 57.t 13,19¢ 66.7 3,79¢ 73.€
Advertising and marketin 5,84¢ 15.2 3,97¢ 20.1 94t 18.¢
Selling, general and administrati 10,49 27.4 6,84: 34.€ 4,08¢ 79.€
Operating incomi 5,71( 14.¢ 2,37¢ 12.C (1,23¢) (24.)
Interest expens (231 (0.2) (6) (0.0 (32) (0.2)
Interest and other income 34 0.C 227 1.1 61 0.C
Income before income tax 5,51 14.4 2,60( 13.1 (1,20¢) (23.5)
(Provision) benefit for income taxes (2,137) (5.6) (507) (2.5) 44¢ 1.C
Net income $ 3,381 8.8% $ 2,09¢ 10.€% $ (759) (1.5)%

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AS COMPARED TO THE YEAR ENDED DECMEBER 31, 2008
Net sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2009 $88@61,747 compared to net sales of $19,791@0Bi¢ year ended December 31, 2(
an increase of $18,570,144 or 94%.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, sales dfeisibleSHIELD product line accounted for approxsitaly 95% of our revenues. We have
experienced significant growth in our indirect chahto Big Box retailers like Best Buy and Radica&k and both domestic and foreign
electronics accessory distributors. We are stdued on distribution through our mall kiosk pamgrand through our website
www.ZAGG.com, but the significant growth for 2009 was through mmdirect channel as we began selling througtitiaa@l customers and
expanded our SKU count in our current customers. tiie year ended December 31, 2009, approxim&g8ty of our overall net sales was
through our indirect channel, 29% was through oebsite, 9% was through our mall cart and kiosk mots and 4% for shipping and hand|
charges.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales includes raw materials, packing neseand shipping and fulfillment costs. For tleayended December 31, 2009, cost of sales
amounted to $16,308,501 or approximately 43% ofakds as compared to cost of sales of $6,593,738% of net sales for the year ended
December 31, 2008. The increase in cost of salaspercentage of net revenues for the year endedniber 31, 2009 as compared to the yeal
ended December 31, 2008 is attributable to theatveales mix shift to wholesale customers whicheha lower average selling price than our
internet sales which have historically represemtéatger percentage of the total sales.

Gross profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2088 $22,053,246 or approximately 57% of net salepagpared to $13,197,885 or
approximately 67% of net sales net sales for tlae gaded December 31, 2008. The decrease in grofispercentage was again due to the
sales mix shift from direct internet sales to iedircustomers which have a lower average sellirog prAs we continue to grow our business,
we will have increased sales to our indirect cugtiegmvhich will continue to put pressure on our grpofit margins. We were successful in
the fourth quarter of 2009 to negotiate betteripgon some of our raw materials that helped teaifthe margin pressure from the increased
sales to our indirect customers. There are naraseses that we will continue to recognize simileosg profit margins in the future.

21




Operating expenses

Total operating expenses for year ended Decemhe&x08D were $16,343,195, an increase of $5,524y269 total operating expenses for year
ended December 31, 2008 of $10,818,936. The iseseare primarily attributable to the following:

« For the year ended December 31, 2009, salariesedmietd taxes increased by $1,251,569 to $4,148r688 $2,896,919 for the ye
ended December 31, 2008, which includes $642,098xjmenses related to the issuance of common stodkogtions to ot
employees. We have added additional staff duri@@92to accommodate our continued growth. As weesme the sales of «
products through additional distribution channels,do not anticipate having to increase our heatlcsignificantly.

« For the year ended December 31, 2009, marketingrising and promotion expenses were $5,845,801Inaease of $1,869,786
compared to $3,976,015, for the year ended DecerBtier2008. We continue to invest heavily in thevelepment of th
invisibleSHIELD and ZAGG brands through interney keord advertising, traditional print media, teksioin and radio advertising &
through the use of coupons. We expect our manedimd advertising expenses to continue to be dfisigmt expenditure as o
revenues increase and expect to spend increasdd éimadvertising and promotion of our productsvel as sales training. Duri
fiscal 2010, we intend to continue to expand ourketng efforts related to our existing productsd afor our new produ
introductions

« For the year ended December 31, 2009, other selijageral and administrative expenses, net ofisaland related taxes descri
above, were $ 6,348,906 compared to $3,946,00théyear ended December 31, 2008. The overakaser in other selling, gene
and administrative expenses is attributable toftilewing factors. We recorded an impairment cleagf $712,000 related to |
Brighton Partners note receivable and accomparipiiegest as it was determined in the fourth quahat the note had been impai
we increased our reserve for doubtful accounts380%00 due to the failure of a major foreign disttor and the inability of seve
of our smaller customers to pay balances due tieaause of the overall credit crisis during 20@8réased rent expense of $96,9¢
we increased our office facilities and increasedelvause rent, increased legal and accounting ezpesfs$338,108 due primarily
our requirements under the Sarbafedey Act and increased credit card and bank fde$243,381 due to increased credit «
transaction processin

Income (loss) from operation

We reported income from operations of $5,710,051He year ended December 31, 2009 compared ton@émm operations of $2,378,949
for the year ended December 31, 2008, an incref#b®,831,102. The increased income from operationthe year ended December 31, 2009
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2@dBriarily attributable to the overall increase &es due to continued consumer adoptic
the invisibleSHIELD product line, the addition aéwm customers and the expansion of additional SKItts @ur current customers.

Other income

For the year ended December 31, 2009, total ottperese was $196,612 compared to other income df,302 for the year ended December
31, 2008. The decrease is primarily attributethtinterest charges we incur as a result of dguwmour line of credit and a decrease in
interest income with the impairment of notes reablg. We recognized an income tax expense of 8018 for the year ended December 31,
2009 compared to income tax expense of $501,18Béyear ended December 31, 2008.

Net income

As a result of these factors, we reported net ireofr$3,381,429 or $0.15 per share for the yeae@fecember 31, 2009 versus net incomr
$2,098,962 or $0.11 per share for the year endeeéiker 31, 2008.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December Increase December Increase December
31, 2009 (Decrease) 31, 2008 (Decrease) 31, 2007
Cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 1,700,64: $ 1,897,320 $ (196,689 $ 645,80t $  (842,49()
Cash used in investing activiti (1,804,73) (909,729 (895,01) (699,789 (195,22)
Cash provided by financing activiti 4,009,19! 3,981,06! 28,13: (2,670,47) 2,698,55!
December December
31, 2009 Increase 31, 2008
Cash $ 4,970,75 3,905,100 $ 1,065,65:
Working capital 12,423,78 7,218,39! 5,205,38:

Net cash provided by operating activities in 20@& 81,700,642, compared to cash used in operattivitias of $196,684 during 2008. T
increase in cash flows from operating activitie2@®9 compared to 2008 was primarily due to analercrease in net income and a reduc

in accounts receivable. Accounts receivable dsecdue to increased customer management andctiease to the allowance for doubtful
accounts of $466,219 due to the inability to cdlfeem customers due to the overall economic downtiCash provided by operating activities
was partially offset by an increase in prepaid esgs of $813,838 primarily due to deposits on itmgnpurchases related to the ZAGGaudio
and ZAGGbox product lines and an overall increaseventory levels of $316,290 due to increasingaerall safety stock related to our
invisibleSHIELD business.

Net cash used in investing activities during 20@& 1,804,737 as compared to $895,012 during 20A8.increase in cash used for inves
activities in 2009 compared to 2008 was due tqptngnents made to HzO related to the waterprooéofriology. These payments were
accounted for through a convertible bridge loane al6o increased capital expenditures by $194 &ated to the purchase of computer
equipment and leasehold improvements at our fislit

Net cash provided by financing activities was $8,009 during 2009 as compared to $28,133 durin@2@oceeds from warrant exerci:
were $2,498,388 during 2009 and proceeds from ogi@rcises were $468,948.

We reported a net increase in cash for the yeagdebBécember 31, 2009 of $3,905,104.

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008emerated revenues of $38,361,747 and $19,79Ir&§)% ctively and had net income of
$3,381,429 and $2,098,962, respectively, and hsld ftaw from operations of $1,700,642 and negativeh flow from operating activities of
$196,684, respectively. As of December 31, 20 hed stockholdergquity of $13,886,961, retained earnings of $4 0388, working capit:

of $12,423,787, accounts payable of $2,781,42%ro=d revenues of $262,937, sales returns lialwfit)550,201, accrued wages and wage
related expenses of $164,495 and accrued liabilitieb1,252,461. Management believes that existésy, along with cash generated from the
collection of accounts receivable, our line of @redid the sale of products will be sufficient teehthe Company’s cash requirements during
the next twelve months.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2009, there were no off balahest arrangements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALIT ATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks in the arglisourse of our business. These risks resutigily from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates. In additianinbernational operations are subject to riskates to differing economic conditions, changes
in political climate, differing tax structures anther regulations and restrictions.

To date we have not utilized derivative financratruments or derivative commodity instruments. denot expect to employ these or other
strategies to hedge market risk in the foresedahlee. We invest our cash in money market fumdsch are subject to minimal credit and
market risk. We believe that the market risks aiss¢ed with these financial instruments are immateri

See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for furthésalission of our financing facilities and capitelsture. Market risk, calculated as the
potential change in fair value of our cash equintdend line of credit resulting from a hypothdtit®% (100 basis point) change in interest
rates, was not material at December 31, 2009.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information set forth below should be read tbhgewith the "Management's Discussion and Analgéisinancial Condition and Results of
Operations," appearing elsewhere herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
ZAGG Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of ZAGG Incorporated and subsidiary (@mmpany”) as of December 3
2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statsnoé operations, stockholdersquity, and cash flows for each of the three yaarthe
period ended December 31, 2009. These financigrtnts are the responsibility of the Companyianagement. Our responsibility i
express an opinion on these financial statemerssdoan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlaUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obt@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tiliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An &
also includes assessing the accounting princigded and significant estimates made by managementethas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetageferred to above present fairly, in all mater@spects, the consolidated financial pos
of ZAGG Incorporated and subsidiary as of Decen3igr2009 and 2008, and the results of their opmratand their cash flows for each of
three years in the period ended December 31, 20@@nformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of Amer

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the effectivenes
ZAGG Incorporated’s internal control over financi@porting as of December 31, 2009, based on ieriestablished irinternal Control-
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission and our report dateccMa2, 201
expressed an unqualified opinion.

/sl HANSEN, BARNETT & MAXWELL, P.C.
Salt Lake City, Utah
March 12, 2010

24




ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2009 2008
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash $ 4,970,750 $ 1,065,65:
Accounts receivable, n 5,450,72. 3,593,88
Inventories 3,695,84! 1,913,29
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,836,33! 676,07
Notes receivabl 75,00( 513,00(
Convertible bridge loa 1,151,001 -
Deferred income tax assets 255,65: 81,66
Total current assets 17,435,30 7,843,571
Property and equipment, net 887,70! 549,37(
Deferred income tax asset 446,15: 4,93
Deposits and other assel 9,68¢ 9,68¢
Intangible assets, ne 119,62 47,34«
Total assets $ 18,898,48 $ 8,454,91
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Notes payabl $ - $ 20,22:
Accounts payabl 2,781,42! 1,626,39!
Accrued liabilities 1,252,46. 212,75:
Accrued wages and wage related expe 164,49! 121,118
Deferred revenu 262,93 366,59(
Sales returns liability 550,20: 291,11¢
Total current liabilities 5,011,51! 2,638,18:
Total liabilities 5,011,51! 2,638,18:
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 50,000,000 shartb®rzed,;
21,711,862 and 19,163,995 shares issued and aditsganespectivel’ 21,71 19,16¢
Additional pait-in capital 9,239,28! 4,547,61!
Cumulative translation adjustme (112,039 (106,63()
Retained earning 4,738,00. 1,356,57.
Total stockholders' equity 13,886,96 5,816,72
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 18,898,48 $ 8,454,91

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sients.
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ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2009 2008 2007

Net sales $ 38,361,74 $ 19,791,60 $ 5,135,71
Cost of sales 16,308,50 6,593,71i 1,340,85!
Gross profit 22,053,24 13,197,88 3,794,86!
Operating expenses

Advertising and marketin 5,845,80. 3,976,01! 944, 71!

Selling, general and administrative 10,497,39 6,842,92. 4,087,70!
Total operating expense: 16,343,19 10,818,93 5,032,41!
Income (loss) from operations 5,710,05. 2,378,94! (1,237,55)
Other income (expense)

Interest expens (231,449 (6,022 (31,457

Interest and other incon 34,83 227,22: 60,67
Total other (expense) incoms (196,617) 221,20: 29,21¢
Income (loss) before benefit (provision) for incoméaxes 5,513,43 2,600,151 (1,208,33)
Income tax (provision) benefit (2,132,01)) (501,189 448,82(
Net income (loss $ 338142 $ 2,098,996 $ (759,51)
Basic net income (loss) per common sha $ 0.1¢ $ 0.11 $ (0.0%)
Diluted net income (loss) per common shar $ 0.1t $ 011 $ (0.0%)
Weighted average number of shares outstandin- basic 20,633,81 18,971,39 16,139,17
Weighted average number of shares outstandin- diluted 22,989,03 19,265,22 16,139,17

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@ssients.
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Balances, December 31, 20

Issuance of common stock and warre
for cash

Issuance of common stock with rever
merger

Issuance of common stock in
conversion of dek

Issuance of common stock to employ

Issuance of warrants for settlement o
dispute

Issuance of warrants associated with
shor-term loan

Foreign currency translation lo
Net loss
Balances, December 31, 20

Issuance of common stock to employ
and consultant

Issuance of common stock for exerci:
of warrants

Option expens

Foreign currency translation lo

Net income

Balances, December 31, 20
Issuance of common stock to employ
Option exercise

Warrant exercise

Warrant gran

Foreign currency translation lo
Option expens

Excess tax benefits related to sl-
based paymen

Net Income

Balances, December 31, 20

ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Additional Retained Cumulative Total
Common Stock Paid-in Earnings Translation  Stockholders'

Shares Amount Capital (Deficit) Adjustment Equity
10,175,000 $ 10,17t $ 117,07 % 17,12 $ - 8 144,37
3,610,85! 3,611 2,736,63. - - 2,740,24.
3,346,00! 3,34¢ (3,346 - - -
862,13¢ 8632 299,13t - - 300,00:
860,00( 86C 844,14( - - 845,00(
- - 82,72¢ - - 82,72¢
- - 15,49t - - 15,49t
- - - - (3,86¢€) (3,86€)
- - - (759,51) - (759,517
18,853,99 18,85¢ 4,091,86: (742,38)) (3,86¢€) 3,364,46!
210,00( 21C 178,22¢ - - 178,43¢
100,00( 10C 38,76: - - 38,86:
- - 238,76: - - 238,76
- - - - (102,76 (102,769
- - - 2,098,96. - 2,098,96;
19,163,99 19,16t 4,547,61! 1,356,57 (106,63() 5,816,72'
80,00( 80 282,72( - - 282,80(
634,29¢ 632 467,88 - - 468,51
1,833,56! 1,83¢ 2,275,07. - - 2,276,90!
- - 221,91° - - 221,917
- - - - (5,409 (5,409
- - 381,99: - - 381,99:
- - 1,062,08! - - 1,062,08!
- - - 3,381,42! - 3,381,42!
21,711,86 $ 21,71 $ 9,239,28 $ 4,738,000 $ (112,03) $ 13,886,96

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@ssients.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rmsh
provided by (used in) operating activitit
Non-cash expense related to st-based compensatic
Excess tax benefits related to sl-based paymen
Depreciation and amortizatic
Deferred income tax expense (bene
Expense related to issuance of warr:i
Bad debt expens
Impairment expense for short term n
Gain on asset dispos:
Foreign currency translation adjustm:
Changes in assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Accrued wages and wage related expe
Deferred revenue
Deferred tax liabilitie:
Sales return liability

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for intangible ass:
Payment for convertible bridge lo
Shor-term loans

Proceeds from disposal of equipm
Purchase of property and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Payments on del

Proceeds from notes payal

Proceeds from exercise of warrants and opt
Excess tax benefits related to sl-based paymen
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and war
Payments on convertible note paye- officer

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivale

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the pedc

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the peric

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid during the period for inter
Cash paid during the period for ta»

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2009 2008 2007
$ 338142 $ 209896 $ (759,51)
664,79: 406,06 845,00(
(1,062,08) ; ;
243,11¢ 160,26 86,16(

- 370,34° (449,561

- - 82,72¢

466,21 155,69 14,26
438,00 - -

- (12,215 -

(5,409) (102,769) (3,866)
(2,323,05)  (3,347,13) (295,56()
(1,782,54)  (1,466,25) (344,52:)
(1,160,25) (315,92 (225,33))
1,155,03! 1,120,81! 210,20
978,64 176,94( 17,73
43,38: 25,57¢ (26,197
(103,65)) 265,67¢ 14,11(
507,94 - -
259,08: 267,25¢ (8,139)
1,700,64: (196,689 (842,49()
(79,269 (4,902 (48,762
(1,151,00) - -

- (513,000 -

- 2,997 -

(574,47 (380,10:) (146,465
(1,804,73) (895,01) (195,22)
(20,229 (21,867 (250,001)

- - 200,00(

2,967,33 - -
1,062,08 ; ;

- 50,00( 2,798,55!

- - (50,000

4,009,19' 28,13 2,698,55!
3,905, 10 (1,063,56) 1,660,83;
1,065,65: 2,129,21! 468,38.

$ 497075 $ 106565 $ 212921
$ 231,44 $ 6,02: $ 17,95¢
551,68: - -

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@ssients.
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ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and finaing activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009:
Issued 370,000 warrants to consultants.
Issued 80,000 shares of common stock to employees.
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008:
Issued 210,000 shares of common stock to emplay@dsonsultants.
For the Year Ended December 31, 2007:
Issued 714,286 shares of common stock in conveddionnvertible note payable.
Issued 147,853 shares of common stock in conveddiconvertible note payable - officer and accrirgdrest.
Issued 860,000 shares of common stock to emplameesonsultants.
Issued warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of camstnok in connection with note payable valuedl4, 495.

Issued warrants to purchase 2,401,953 shares ahoarstock in settlement of a dispute.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisents.
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ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBISDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Company

ZAGG Incorporated (the “Company”) was incorporaitethe State of Utah on March 25, 2005 as Protecdolutions, Inc. On January 30,
2006, the Company amended its articles of incotpmrand changed its name to ShieldZone Corporat®n February 8, 2007 the Company
was acquired by an inactive publicly held compakyerasia Khan Enterprises Ltd. in a transactioroanted for as a recapitalization of the
Company. On March 1, 2007, the Company redomeéstidés operating subsidiary by reincorporatinig ithe State of Nevada and on that
same date the Company merged that subsidiary imterasia Khan Enterprises Ltd, the parent, who Wwasurviving entity. In connection
with the merger the Company changed the name ofrasieeKhan Enterprises Ltd. to ZAGG Incorporated.

The Company designs, manufactures and distribuitéegiive coverings, audio accessories and powastieos for consumer electronic and
hand-held devices under the brand names invisidlESBI™ and ZAGGaudio™.

The consolidated financial statements include tlo®ants of ZAGG Incorporated and its wholly ownebdsidiary ZAGG Europe Limited. All
intercompany transactions and balances have baeima&ied in consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principlesuisees management to make estimates anc
assumptions that affect the reported amounts etsssd liabilities and disclosure of contingersieds and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenuexqehses during the reporting period. Actual reszduld differ from those

estimates. Significant estimates in 2009 and 2008de the allowance for doubtful accounts, ineentvaluation allowances, sales returns
warranty liability and the useful life of properynd equipment and intangible assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, tmapg2ainy considers all highly liquid instruments fhased with a maturity of three months or
less and money market accounts to be cash equisalen

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sHeetaccounts receivable, accounts payable anduaddiabilities approximate fair val
because of the immediate or shtatm maturity of these financial instruments. Taerying amounts reported for notes receivable raotd:
payable approximate fair value because the undeylyistruments are at interest rates which appratéraurrent market rates.

Accounts receivabli

The Company sells its products to end-users thrindjrect distribution channels and other reselen® are extended credit terms after an
analysis of their financial condition and creditriininess.

The Company also accepts orders from its website sind corporate owned kiosk stores and receneeltcard payments through its
merchant bank.

Credit terms to distributors and resellers, wheterated, are based on evaluation of the custonieasidial condition and, generally, collateral
is not required. The Company maintains allowaricegoubtful accounts for estimated losses reggiiom the inability of customers to make
required payments. Management regularly evaluhteallowance for doubtful accounts consideringimber of factors. Accounts receivable
are generally due within sixty days of the invoilzge and considered past due after sixty daydmBtgd losses are based on the aging of
accounts receivable balances, a review of sigmifipast due accounts, and historical write-off eigree, net of recoveries. If the financial
condition of the Company’s customers were to detate, whether due to deteriorating economic cantitgenerally, in the industry, or
otherwise, resulting in an impairment of their apito make payments, additional allowances wowdddxuired.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounts receivable from merchant banks are dtleet@learing time the merchant banks take to pastransactions to the Company’s bank
account. There is typically a two to five day lzgfween the charge date and the posting date.

The Company establishes an allowance and chargeddid expense on accounts receivable when theyrteedoubtful of collection, and
payments subsequently received on such receivabdesredited to the bad debt expense in the pefiogcovery.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of finished goaatsd raw materials, are valued at the lower of oosharket and are accounted for on the first-
in, first-out basis. Management performs peri@isessments to determine the existence of obssle@temoving and non-saleable
inventories, and records necessary provisionsdoae such inventories to net realizable value.

Property and equipmer

Property and equipment are stated at cost and dafeé using the straight-line method over theiinggted useful lives. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the lesser of sleéulilife of the asset or the term of the lease.

Major additions and improvements are capitalizeloi)evcosts for minor replacements, maintenancerapdirs that do not increase the useful
life of an asset are expensed as incurred. Upaement or other disposition of property and equéint, the cost and related accumulated
depreciation or amortization are removed from tteants. The resulting gain or loss is reflectedther selling, general and administrative
expense.

Intangibles and other lon-lived assets

In accordance with Accounting Standards CodifieafftASC") 360, “Accounting for the Impairment or §iosal of Long-Lived Assets”, the
Company reviews the carrying value of intangibled ather londived assets for impairment at least annually oeméver events or changes
circumstances indicate that the carrying amoumtnodsset may not be recoverable. Recoverabilityngf-lived assets is measured by
comparison of its carrying amount to the undiscedrdash flows that the asset or asset group ictege generate. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to begeized is measured by the amount by which the/izeyramount of the property, if any,
exceeds its fair market value.

Accounting for Derivatives

The Company evaluates its options, warrants orr aiietracts to determine if those contracts or etdbd components of those contracts
qualify as derivatives to be separately accourmediider ASC 815 “Accounting for Derivative Instranis and Hedging Activitiesind relate
interpretations including Emerging Issues Task E¢'EITF”) 00-19 “Accounting for Derivative Finaradi Instruments Indexed to, and
Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock”.

The result of this accounting treatment is thatfievalue of the embedded derivative is markedatrket each balance sheet date and
recorded as a liability. In the event that the Yalue adjustment is recorded as a liability,¢hange in fair value is recorded in the consolid
statement of operations as an other income or eepedpon conversion or exercise of a derivatigériment, the instrument is marked to fair
value at the conversion date and then that faireved reclassified to equity. Equity instrumentst thre initially classified as equity that become
subject to reclassification under ASC 815 are s=ifeed to liability at the fair value of the ingtnent on the reclassification date.
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Contingencies

Certain conditions may exist as of the date finalngiatements are issued, which may result inattghe Company, but which will only be
resolved when one or more future events occuribtofaccur. The Company's management and itd lagansel assess such contingent
liabilities, and such assessment inherently invdlre exercise of judgment. In assessing lossragenicies related to legal proceedings that are
pending against the Company or unasserted claiatsrthy result in such proceedings, the Compangal ounsel evaluates the perceived
merits of any legal proceedings or unasserted slaisnwell as the perceived merits of the amoungliff sought or expected to be sought
therein. If the assessment of a contingency inidgcthat it is probable that a material loss hanlecurred and the amount of the liability can
be estimated, then the estimated liability wouldiberued in the Company's financial statementshelfassessment indicates that a potentially
material loss contingency is not probable but &somably possible, or is probable but cannot imattd, then the nature of the contingent
liability, together with an estimate of the randeossible loss if determinable and material, wdwddisclosed.

Revenue recognitiol

The Company records revenue when persuasive ewddran arrangement exists or product deliverydeasirred, the sales price to the
customer is fixed or determinable, and collecttbii reasonably assured. The Compamgvenue is derived from sales of its productsubh
its indirect channel including retailers and distitors and through its direct channel including Z&&om and its corporate owned mall kiosks,
and from the fees derived from the sale of excligidependent distributor licenses related to thekkprogram. For sales of product, the
Company'’s standard shipping terms are FOB shippaigt and the Company records revenue when thauptasl shipped, net of estimated
returns and discounts. For some customers, theambual shipping terms are FOB destination, festhshipments, the Company records
revenue when the product is delivered, net of egahreturns and discounts. For license feeCtimepany recognizes revenue on a straight-
line basis over the life of the license term.

Any incentives received from vendors are recogne®d reduction of the cost of products. Promotipraducts given to customers or poter
customers are recognized as a cost of sales. Geshtives provided to its customers are recogrégea reduction of the related sale price, and,
therefore, are a reduction in sales.

Reserve for Sales Returns and Warranty Liabil

The Companys return policy generally allows its end users gatdilers to return purchased products for refunith @xchange for new produ:
within 30 days of end user purchase. The Compatignates a reserve for sales returns and recoatisedberve amount as a reduction of sales
and as a sales return reserve liability. The gsafesn liability was $550,201, $291,119 and $23,86December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

The Company generally provides the ultimate consumvearranty with each product and accrues warrexpgnse at the time of the sale be
on the Company’s prior claims history. Actual vearty costs incurred are charged against the acetuah paid. During the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, warranty expamdé¢he reserve for warranty liability, respectyyebas not material.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Outbound shipping charges to customers are inclirdedles and were $1,527,034, $1,067,719 and $380or the years ended December 31,
2009, 2008 and 2007. Outbound shipping relatetscosluding picking, packaging and preparing costr orders for shipment, are included
in costs of sales and totaled $4,917,909, $2,2@7a89 $607,745 for the years ended December 38, 2008 and 2007.

Income taxes

The Company recognizes deferred income tax assétbiities for expected future tax consequenaksvents that have been recognized in
the financial statements or tax returns. Undex téthod, deferred income tax assets or liabil#resdetermined based upon the difference
between the financial statement and income taxsbafsassets and liabilities using enacted tax repected to apply when differences are
expected to be settled or realized. Deferred irectar assets are reviewed for recoverability ardatmn allowances are provided when it is
more likely than not that a deferred tax assebigealizable in the future. The effect on deférnex assets and liabilities of a change in tax
rates is recognized in income in the period theluitles the enactment date.
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Stock-based compensation

As required by generally accepted accounting pplesi the Company recognizes the cost resulting fith stock-based payment transactions
including shares issued under its stock optionglarthe financial statements based upon the &irevof such equity instruments granted. For
the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 289T,dmpany recognized stock-based compensatiomexud $664,792, $406,064 and
$845,000, respectively, related to the issuan@@ofmon stock and options issued under its stodnitive plan.

Research and developme

Research and development costs, if any, are expessecurred. For the years ended December 8B, 2008 and 2007, research and
development costs were not material and are indliniéhe accompanying statements of operationsliimg, general and administrative
expenses.

Advertising and marketing

General advertising is expensed as incurred. Atbuegtexpenses for the years ended December 39, 2008 and 2007 were $5,845,801,
$3,976,015 and $944,715, respectively. IncludatiénDecember 31, 2008 expense was $190,787 retatadinfomercial that the company
had produced, but subsequently abandoned.

Foreign Currency Transactions

The Company’s primary operations are at the pdeset which uses the U.S. dollar (USD) as its fiorwdl currency. The British Pound is the
functional currency of the Company’s operating sdiasy. The respective balance sheets have baaslated into USD at the exchange rates
prevailing at each balance sheet date. The regpesititements of operations have been translated)®D using the average exchange rates

prevailing during the periods of each statemerite @orresponding translation adjustments are irclud part of stockholders’ equity. For the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007gthiegate foreign currency transaction loss was(86,8102,764 and $3,866, respectiv:

Segment Reportin

The accounting guidance requires disclosures elateomponents of a company for which separatnfiral information is available that is
evaluated regularly by the Company's chief opegadiecision maker in deciding how to allocate resesitand in assessing

performance. Management believes that the Compasynly one reportable segment in accordanceasitbunting guidance because the
Company's business consists of sales of consumerahics accessories, primarily related to thésibleSHIELD product line.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2008 financial statemente feen reclassified to conform to the 2009 prediemt. The reclassifications had no effect
on net income.

Recent accounting pronouncemen

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢‘FASB”) issued ASC 810 (originally issued d&AS No. 167 Amendments to FASB
Interpretation No. 46(R. Among other items, ASC 810 responds to concepatahe application of certain key provisions tfIB6(R),
including those regarding the transparency of tvelvement with variable interest entities. ASC 84 effective for calendar year companies
beginning on January 1, 2010. The Company doebeim®ve the adoption of ASC 810 will have a sigmifit impact on its financial position,
results of operations, cash flows, or disclosures.

On September 23, 2009, the FASB ratified Emergasgés Task Force Issue No. 0&Réyenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables
(“EITF 08-1"). EITF 08-1 updates the current guidamertaining to multiple-element revenue arrangegsiecluded in ASC Subtopic 605-25,
which originated primarily from EITF 00-21, alstled Revenue Arrangements with Multiple DeliverabldsITF 08-1 will be effective for
annual reporting periods beginning January 1, Z6d talendar-year entities. The Company is culyentaluating the impact of EITF 08-1 on
its financial position, results of operations, célelvs, and disclosures.
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Net Income Per Common Shai
Basic net income per share is computed by dividietgincome by weighted average number of sharesmafnon stock outstanding during e
period. Diluted net income per share is computedibiding net income by the weighted average nunatbeshares of common stock, common

stock equivalents and potentially dilutive secastoutstanding during each period.

The following is a reconciliation of the numerasord denominator used to calculate Basic and DilEfeS:

Weighted
Average Per Share
Net Income Shares Amount
Year Ended December 31, 2C
Basic EP< $ (759,51) 16,139,17 $ (0.05)
Effect of common stock equivaler — — —
Diluted EPS $  (759,51) 16,139,17 $ (0.05)
Year Ended December 31, 2C
Basic EP< $ 2,098,96: 18,971,39 $ 0.11
Effect of common stock equivaler — 293,83 —
Diluted EPS $ 2,096,96 19,265,22 $ 0.11
Year Ended December 31, 2C
Basic EP< $ 3,381,42 20,633,81 $ 0.1¢
Effectof common stock equivalen — 2,355,22 —
Diluted EPS $ 3,381,42 22,989,03 $ 0.1%

The calculation above for the year ended Decembge2@09 excludes the exercise of 175,000 of thstanting warrants and 247,500 of the
outstanding options as the exercise of these wiareard options would have an anti-dilutive effettearnings per share. The calculation above
for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 200ddesithe exercise of 4,146,953 and 4,299,453 afutstanding warrants as the exercis
these warrants would have an anti-dilutive effecearnings per share.

NOTE 2 — ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

Accounts receivable consisted of the following:

December 31

2009 2008
Accounts receivabl $ 6,13587 $ 3,812,82
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (685,159 (218,936
Accounts receivable, net $ 5450,72. $ 3,593,88
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Bad debt expense for the years ended DecembefB%, 2008 and 2007 was $466,219, $155,695 and &3 4r@spectively. The significant
increase for the year ended December 31, 200%ilswaed to foreign distributors that became insoltvas a result of the overall economic
downturn during 2009.

On May 13, 2009, the Company entered into an adsaeceivable financing agreement with Faunus Gilotgrnational, Inc. (“FGI”). The
Company may offer to sell its accounts receivablE®| each month during the term of the Agreemepto a maximum amount outstandin
any time of $4,000,000. The Company can sell autsoreceivable to FGI on either a credit approvefilibrecourse basis. Credit approved
invoices are sold to FGI with no recourse, FGI atsall credit default risk on invoices sold unttex credit approved terms. As of December
31, 2009, the Company had only sold credit appramedices. The Company accounted for the sala®ttedit approved invoices as a
reduction to accounts receivable. Under the texhtlse agreement, the Company is charged a monthigteral management fee of 0.87% of
the average monthly outstanding balance and iritat&®6 per annum. As of December 31, 2009, thmg@2my had outstanding advances of
$511,486 with FGI.

NOTE 3 — CONVERTIBLE BRIDGE LOAN

On September 28, 2009 the Company entered intmgeloan agreement with HzO, Inc., (“HzO") for $31,000. HzO recently acquired the
rights to the Golden Shellback technology develdpedlortheast Maritime Institute (“NMI”), Inc. Thechnology is a molecular, vacuum
deposited coating that is nonflammable, has lovcityxand has the ability to weatherproof electoodévices and other surfaces. The
technology was renamed as the HzO Technology. Cdmpany was granted the exclusive worldwide mamketights for the HzO technology
due to its efforts in assisting HzO in securing tt®® technology.

Under the terms of the bridge loan agreement, tirafgany has the option, but not the obligation,aiovert the bridge loan into shares of Se
A Preferred stock of HzO at a conversion price@#$5 per share. The Company received a warraé3@@000 shares of HzO Series A
Preferred stock in lieu of interest payments farltten. These warrants have not been assigneldeainahe accompanying financial
statements. The Company is a party to a guaragieement with HzO for an additional $2,000,000nparyt to NMI on February 25, 2010 in
the event that HzO, with its lead investor vSpi@apital, LLC, to secure the necessary capitalipdiio HzO to make the payment. As of the
date of this report, the additional payment hadossn made.

NOTE 4 — PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepaid expenses and other current assets is sizethar the table below:

December 31

2009 2008
Interest and other receivabl $ 69,45¢ $ 170,31
Inventory deposit 1,438,13! 205,57¢
Other 328,74: 300,18!
Total prepaid expenses and other current a $ 1,836,33 $ 676,07

NOTE 5 — INVENTORIES
Inventory consisted of the following components:

December 31

2009 2008
Finished good $ 778,87. $ 204,76t
Raw material 2,916,96! 1,708,53.
Total inventory $ 3,69584 $ 1,913,29
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NOTE 6 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31

2009 2008
Useful Lives

Computer equipment and softw: 3 to 5 year: $ 431,92. $ 271,28
Equipment 31010 year: 452,47 314,41:
Furniture and fixture 7 years 109,39: 56,02:
Automobiles 5 years 93,00: 84,95¢
Leasehold improvements 1to 4.75 years 318,18 103,82:
1,404,971 830,49¢
Less accumulated depreciation (517,26%) (281,12%)
Net property and equipme $ 887,70! $ 549,37(

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 ar¥| 86@reciation expense was $236,139, $156,0988h@50, respectively.
NOTE 7 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At December 31, 2008, intangible assets consilgga fees paid in connection with the Company®pgapplication of $11,039 and amounts
paid to secure the Company’s Internet addresshe.cdsts relating to the definite-lived intangibksets are amortized over their estimated
useful lives using straighine amortization. The useful life for Internetdadsses is 10 years. As of December 31, 2009étent had not be
granted. Accordingly, the Company has not beguamtortize the patent costs and will begin amorgjzire patent over the legal life of the
patent, when the patent is granted.

The Company has contractual rights customary inrttiestry to use its Internet addresses. HowelierCompany does not have and cannot
acquire any property rights to the internet addresdhe Company does not expect to lose its rightse the Internet addresses; however,
there can be no assurance in this regard and easltbuld have a material adverse effect on thep@ayis financial position and results of
operations.

The Company’s definite-lived intangible assetssaamamarized in the table below:

Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying
December 31, 2009 Amount Amortization Amount
Internet addresse $ 124,23: $ (15,646 $ 108,58t

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 ar¥] a@tbrtization expense was $6,981, $4,454 andl®4rBspectively.
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NOTE 8 — INCOME TAXES

The following table shows the Company’s deferred emrrent income tax (benefit) expense for the yeaded December 31, 2009, 2008 and
2007, as follows:

2009 2008 2007
Deferred income tax (benefit) exper $ 896,85 $ 501,18t $  (448,82()
Current income tax (benefit) exper 1,235,15 — —

$ 2,132,011 $ 501,18¢ $  (448,82()

The following is a reconciliation of the income égxcomputed using the federal statutory rate t@tbeision for income taxes:

2009 2008 2007
Tax at statutory rate (349 $ 1,838,69 $ 884,05. $ (412,089
Non-deductible expense and ott 114,84¢ 6,582 3,26¢
Utilization of NOL carryforwarc — (475,25() —
State tax, net of federal tax r: 178,46:. 85,80¢ (39,997

$ 2,132,011 $ 501,18¢ $  (448,82()

The tax effects of temporary differences that gaseto significant portions of deferred tax assetd liabilities at December 31, 2009 and Z
are as follows:

2009 2008

Deferred tax asset

Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 255,56: $ 81,66

Other 3,151 1,20¢

Loss from foreign subsidial 80,25/ —

Inventory reserv 27,76 —

Stock based compensati 191,65¢ —

Sales returns accru 205,22! 108,58°
Total deferred tax asse $ 763,61 $ 191,45¢
Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipme $ 61,89¢ $ 104,85!
Total gross deferred tax liabilities 61,89¢ 104,85¢
Net deferred tax asse $ 701,71 $ 86,60(
Deferred tax assets, r— current $ 255,56: $ 81,66:
Deferred tax assets, r— nor-current 446,15 4,937
Net deferred tax asse $ 701,71 $ 86,60(

There was no valuation allowance at December 319 28 management believes it is more likely tharthmd it can realize its deferred tax
assets.

NOTE 9 — COMMON STOCK

During 2007, the Company issued 8,618,995 shariés cbmmon stock. Of such shares 714,286 weuedss conversion of a convertible
note payable with a principal balance of $250,(0846,995 shares of common stock in conjunctioh wie reverse merger transaction,
785,856 were issued in a private placement wheherCompany received $275,050 and paid fees 02$87and fee warrants to purchase
52,500 shares of the Company’s common stock atlke girice of $0.35, 147,853 were issued in coneersf a note payable of $50,000 plus
accrued interest of $1,749, 1,975,000 were issl@@javith warrants to purchase 987,500 sharesafdtmmon stock at a strike price of $1.30
in a PIPE transaction wherein the Company receBiedi75,000 and paid fees of $177,750 and fee wartarpurchase 197,500 shares of the
Company’s common stock at a strike price of $1880,000 shares to employees and affiliates anddedas compensation expense in the
accompanying financial statements, 850,000 wereetglong with warrants to purchase 425,000 stadriés common stock at a strike price of
$1.30 in a private placement wherein the Compaogived $850,000 and paid fees of $76,500 and ferants to purchase 85,000 shares o
Company’s common stock at a strike price of $1.30.
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During 2008, the Company issued 310,000 shares cbimmon stock. Of such shares, 210,000 weredstsuemployees and consultants and
100,000 were issued in connection with the exermisewarrant to purchase 100,000 shares of thep@agis common stock. The Company
received proceeds of $50,000 in connection withetkercise of the warrants.

During 2009, the Company issued 2,547,867 sharigs ocdbmmon stock. Of such shares, 80,000 weteetsto employees, 634,299 were is¢
in connection with the exercise of stock optiond &r833,568 were issued in connection with the @gerof warrants. The Company
recognized compensation expense in the amount8#,8$Q0 related to the issuance of 80,000 sharesidoyees and received proceeds of
$468,948 related to the option exercises and $23888elated to the exercise of the warrants.

NOTE 10 — STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS
Common Stock Options

In 2007, the Company’s board of directors adoptetiia 2008 the Company’s shareholders approved 4G Incorporated 2007 Stock
Incentive Plan which provides for the issuancemfai2,000,000 shares of common stock to the cogipalirectors, employees, consultants
and advisors (the “2007 Incentive PlanThe 2007 Incentive Plan provides for awards inftms of options to acquire shares of common ¢
and restricted stock grants. The 2007 Incentia® i administered by the Compensation CommittdbeoCompany’s Board of Directors. On
July 16, 2009, the Company’s shareholders appravezimendment to the 2007 Incentive Plan to incrdéesaumber of shares issuable under
the 2007 Incentive Plan to 5,000,000. As of Decem®d, 2009, there were 2,254,500 shares availabtgrant under the 2007 Incentive Plan.

The fair value of stock options has been estimatedf the grant date using the Black-Scholes ogti@ing model. The Company uses
historical data to estimate option exercises angl@yee termination in the option pricing model. eléxpected term of options granted is
derived from the output of the option pricing moeatl represents the period of time that optionetgrhare expected to be outstanding. The
expected volatilities are based on the historicdlity of the Company’s traded stock. Duringtyear ended December 31, 2009, the
Company granted 1,181,500 stock options to empyeder the 2007 Incentive Plan. The followinddahows the assumptions used and
weighted average value for grants in the yearseéDdember 31, 2009 and 2008.

2009 2008
Expected annual dividend re 0.0% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 0.17% 1.54%
Average expected life (year 4.5 year 5 year
Expected volatility of common stoc 60.45% 55.8%
Forfeiture rate 20% 15%
Weighted average fair value of option gre $ 207 $ 0.9C

The Company recorded shdvased compensation expense only for those optiaisite expected to vest. The estimated fair vaifitiee stock
options is amortized over the vesting period ofréspective option grants.

During the years ended December 31, 2009, 2002@0d, the Company recorded equity-based compensatjgense of $664,792, $406,064
and $845,000, respectively.

Options are exercisable for a period as definetheyCompensation Committee on the date granteé.fdllowing table summarizes the stock

option activity for all of the Compang’plans for the years ended December 31, 2009 @0 @here were no options granted for the yeaee
December 31, 2007):
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2009 2008

Weighted Weighted

Average Aggregate Average

Number of Exercise Intrinsic Number of Exercise

Options Price Value Options Price

Outstanding at beginning of the ye¢ 1,635,000 $ 0.65 $ 1,062,75! — $ —
Grantec 1,181,501 2.0t 2,426,841 1,713,001 0.6t
Exercise( (634,299 0.74 (468,94%) — —
Forfeitec (71,000 1.2¢ (91,380 (78,000 0.6t
Outstanding at end of the ye 2,111,20: 1.3¢ 2,929,26. 1,635,001 0.65
Exercisable at the end of the y 101,70: ¢ 0.6t $ 65,93¢ 200,000 ¢ 0.9C

A summary of options outstanding and options esafde under the Company’s stock option plans aebéer 31, 2009 is presented below:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted

Average
Range of Exercise Number Remaining Weighted Average Number Weighted Average

Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

$ 0.60-0.87 1,027,70:. 33year $ 0.62 99,70 $ 0.62
$ 1.13-2.9¢ 836,00( 42year $ 1.27 1,00 $ 1.1:
$ 4.11-6.4C 247,50( 4.7 year $ 4.97 —  $ —
$ 0.60-6.4C 2,111,20: 4.2 year ¢ 1.3¢ 100,70: g 0.6

The weighted average fair value of options graniietihg the year ended December 31, 2009 was $2.86.weighted average fair value of
options granted during the year ended Decembe2(I8 was $0.65. There were no options grantethéoyear ended December 31, 2007.

The estimated fair value of options granted is acttjo the assumptions made, and if the assumptiens to change the estimated fair value
amounts could be significantly different.

Warrants- A summary of warrants granted by the Companyrdutiie years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 andi2@@Zsented below:

2009 2008 2007

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding at beginning of the ye 4,199,45. $ 1.2¢ 4,299,45. $ 1.27 — % —
Granted 370,00( 5.0¢2 — — 4,299,45: 1.27%
Exercised (1,833,56) 1.3C (100,000 0.5C — —
Outstanding at end of the year 2,735,88! 1.6¢ 4,199,45: 1.2¢ 4,299,45; 1.2¢
Exercisable at end of the year 2,735,88" ¢ 1.6¢ 4,19945 ¢ 1.2¢ 429945 ¢ 1.2¢
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During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coynisaned warrants for consulting services for 20,60mmon shares exercisable at $2.05
per share expiring in 1 year and vesting immedjat@he warrants were valued at $4,527 using tleelBScholes method with the following
assumptions: stock price $2.05, expected life ge&s; volatility of 62% (using historical volatyl to provide an implied volatility as the
Company’s options do not trade) and a discountofife16%.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyniganed warrants for sales commissions to an iexidgnt third party for 175,000
common shares exercisable at $6.40 per share mxjbiril year and vesting immediately. The warrargse valued at $132,907 using the
Black-Scholes method with the following assumptiastisck price $6.40, expected life .2 years; vbtatof 66% (using historical volatility to
provide an implied volatility as the Company’s apis do not trade) and a discount rate of 0.14%.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyniganed warrants for sales commissions to an ldgnt third party for 175,000
common shares exercisable at $4.00 per share mxjbiril year and vesting immediately. The warrargse valued at $82,925 using the Black-
Scholes method with the following assumptions: lsjaice $4.00, expected life .2 years; volatilify66% (using historical volatility to provide
an implied volatility as the Company’s options di trade) and a discount rate of 0.19%.

During 2007, the Company issued warrants to pucla99,453 shares of its common stock. Of suahants, 52,500 were issued with a
strike price of $0.35 as fee warrants related éopttivate placement of 785,286 shares, 100,000 issued with a strike price of $0.50 in
connection with short-term financing; 1,412,500 evissued with a strike price of $1.30 in connectigih the sale of 2,825,000 shares in the
PIPE and private placement transactions, 282,508 igsued with a strike price of $1.30 as fee wasraelated to the PIPE and private
placement transactions, 50,000 were issued wittike rice of $1.30 for consulting services andi0d,,953 were issued with a strike price of
$1.30 to certain investors holding 4,803,905 shafése Company common stock that were not included with ceragtitutional investors i
a registration statement that went effective onust@0, 2007.

NOTE 11 - NOTES RECEIVABLE

On March 11, 2008 ZAGG Incorporated entered intagreement to fund a bridge loan (the “Bridge L9af'up to $500,000 to Brighton
Partners, LLC. The purpose of the secured loam fisrtd the development of a superhero series adpté&tan Lee and POW! Entertainment,
Inc. in partnership with Brighton Partners, LLC{lwihe hope that ZAGG will benefit from the marketiexposure and any intellectual prop
created using ZAGG's trademarks.

In consideration of the bridge loan, Brighton Partn LLC executed a secured promissory note witoarigination fee and bearing 10%
interest for the 90 day term of the note. As of &aber 31, 2009, the Company determined that theelreed become impaired and reserved
against the full balance of the note and accruetést. The Company recorded a charge of $438@@fe note receivable and $274,000 for
the related accrued interest in the accompanyitgsients. The Company will continue to assetegal rights with relation to the note
receivable.
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NOTE 12 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Leases

The Company leases office and warehouse spacee @fjuipment and mall cart locations under opegdéiases that expire through December
2014. Future minimum rental payments required utitoperating leases at December 31, 2009 dmlaws:

2010 $ 329,11¢
2011 170,15!
2012 169,80"
2013 172,16«
2014 88,067
Total $ 929,30°

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 ard] 28t expense was $534,435, $427,288 and $194&dctively.

From time to time the Company may become subjeptdoeedings, lawsuits and other claims in thenangi course of business, including
proceedings related to environmental and otherar&attSuch matters are subject to many uncertsjraiel outcomes are not predictable with
assurance.

NOTE 13 — CONCENTRATIONS

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consisigipally of cash and accounts
receivable. The Company places its cash with brglit quality financial institutions. The Compamgintains its cash in bank deposit
accounts, which, at times, exceed federally inslineits. The Company has not experienced any logsssch accounts through December 31,
2009.

Concentration of supplier

The Company purchases its raw materials relatégetinvisibleSHIELD product line primarily from ors®urce. Management is aware of
similar raw materials that would be available frother sources if required and has current plaimmeediately engage such resources if
necessary.

Concentration of accounts receivable

At December 31, 2009, approximately 67% of the thetaof accounts receivable was due from one custome

NOTE 14 — SEGMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 ard] #3Company operated in one segment. The pageof sales by geographic region
for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and ®&6 approximately:

2009 2008 2007
United State: 85% 83% 88%
Europe 8% 10% 6%
Other 7% 7% 6%

For the year ended December 31, 2009, one custatoeunted for 35% of the Company’s sales. Foy#a ended December 31, 2008, one
customer accounted for 12% of the Company’s salEssingle customer accounted for more than 10%h@fCompany’s sales for the year
ended December 31, 2007.
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NOTE 15 — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly financial information is presented in thbowing summary:

Net sales

Operating incomi

Net income

Net income per common sha(1)
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average common shal
Basic

Diluted

Net sales

Operating (loss) incom

Net (loss) incomt

Net (loss) income per common shg(1)
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average common shal
Basic

Diluted

Net sales

Operating (loss) incom

Net (loss) incomt

Net (loss) income per common shg(1)
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average common shal
Basic

Diluted

(M The earnings per common share calculationsdoh ef the quarters were based upon the weightecige number of shares outstanding

Year ended December 31, 20C

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
$ 8,090,995 $ 9,21497 $ 9,72852 $ 11,327,29 $ 38,361,74
1,603,89; 1,863,11! 1,471,28: 771,79: 5,710,05.
1,028,24i 1,194,26. 908,08: 250,84« 3,381,42!
$ 0.0t $ 0.06 $ 00 $ 001 $ 0.1¢
0.0t 0.0t 0.04 0.01 0.1t
19,185,64 20,062,83 21,540,03 21,701,82 20,633,81
19,869,44 22,614,39 24,252,71 23,852,58 22,989,03
Year ended December 31, 20C
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
$ 284536 $ 2,739,177 $ 6,85491 $ 7,352,14' $ 19,791,60
(227,24 198,45t 1,370,701 1,037,03: 2,378,94!
(114,177 174,70: 889,74 1,148,68 2,098,96.
$ (0.0)) $ 001 $ 0.0t $ 0.06 $ 0.11
(0.01) 0.01 0.0t 0.0¢ 0.11
18,363,88 18,884,10 18,981,38 19,154,10 18,971,39
18,363,88 18,936,05 19,436,14 19,315,04 19,265,22
Year ended December 31, 20C
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
$ 792,84¢ $ 804,45¢ $ 1,437,400 $ 2,101,000 $ 5,135,71!
(262,100 (32,439 (749,969 (193,04¢) (1,237,55)
(270,577 (48,299 (733,19 292,54¢ (759,51))
$ (0.02) $ (0.000 $ (0.04 $ 00z $ (0.05)
(0.02) (0.00 (0.09 0.0z (0.0%)
12,695,63 15,168,99 17,631,49 18,825,95 16,169,17
12,695,63 15,168,99 17,631,49 18,825,95 16,139,17

during each period, and the sum of the quartersmoae equal to the full year earnings per comstare amount:
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NOTE 16 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to December 31, 2009, the Company i€0866@ shares of its common stock in exercise ofamés to purchase 6,250 shares of
common stock and received proceeds of $8,125. Ciamepany also issued 3,500 shares of common stoekeircise of employee options to

purchase 3,500 shares of common stock and recpieededs of $4,205. The Company has evaluated gudiseevents after the balance sheet
date of December 31, 2009 through the time ofdilivith the SEC on March 12, 2010, which is the dlagefinancial statements were issued.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executiffeeer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure contalts procedures, as such term is defined under RBael5(e) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (tkeH&hge Act"), within 90 days of the filing datetbfs Report. Based on this evaluation,
our principal executive officer and principal fir@al officer concluded that our disclosure contrasl procedures are effective in alerting them
on a timely basis to material information requitede included in our reports filed or submittedienthe Exchange Act. There have been no
other significant changes (including correctivaats with regard to material weaknesses) in owrirdl controls or in other factors that could
significantly affect these controls subsequenhdate of the evaluation referenced above.

Report of Management on Internal Control over Finarcial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
under the Exchange Act. Our internal control owearicial reporting is a process designed to proxédsonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Ameltit@rnal control over financial reporting includi®se written policies and procedures that:

» pertain to the maintenance of records, that inaralsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thensactions and dispositions of
assets

« provide reasonable assurance that transactionseepeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements in accorda
with accounting principles generally accepted m thnited States of Americ

« provide reasonable assurance that our receiptseapdnditures are being made only in accordance witthorization of ot
management; ar

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preventidimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of assets tl
could have a material effect on our consolidatadrftial statement
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Internal control over financial reporting includég controls themselves, monitoring and internditing practices and actions taken to correct
deficiencies as identified.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdates may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness ourdhtamtrol over financial reporting as of Decem®gr 2009. Our management's assess
was based on criteria for effective internal colntrcer financial reporting described in "Internadr@rol—Integrated Framework" issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread@ommission. Our management's assessment incéudedaluation of the design of
our internal control over financial reporting ardting of the operational effectiveness of ourrimiécontrol over financial reporting. Our
management reviewed the results of its assessniimthe Audit Committee of our Board of DirectoBased on this assessment, our
management determined that, as of December 31, 2@fhaintained effective internal control overafirtial reporting. Hansen, Barnett &
Maxwell, PC, the independent registered public antiog firm who audited our consolidated finanatdtements included in this Report, has
issued a report on our internal control over finaheeporting, which is included herein.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of ZAGG Incorporated

We have audited ZAGG Incorporatedinternal control over financial reporting as oédember, 31, 2009 based on criteria establish
Internal Contro—Integrated Frameworlssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe Treadway Commission (COSO). ZA
Incorporateds management is responsible for maintaining effectnternal control over financial reporting and fts assessment of 1
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying ManagementoRepn Internal Control Over Financ
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an mpiron the company'’s internal control over finahegporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8g@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditndéinal control over financial reporting includestaining an understanding of internal cor
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thataderial weakness exists, and testing and evalydtie design and operating effectivene:
internal control based on the assessed risk. Odit also included performing such other procedumeswe considered necessary in
circumstances. We believe that our audit providesagonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeeacepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdidose policies and procedures that (1) pertathéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdimpany; (2) provide reasonable assu
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgreparation of financial statements in accor@amdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoazations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanaskurance regarding prevention or timely deteatfounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @tteisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégibecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdates may deteriorate.

In our opinion, ZAGG Incorporated maintained, ihrakterial respects, effective internal control ofieancial reporting as of December
2009, based on criteria establishedrternal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiminthe
Treadway Commission (COSO).

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States), the balance sh
and the related statements of income, stockholdgpsity and comprehensive income, and cash flowdAgbG Incorporated, and our rep
dated March 12, 2010 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sl HANSEN, BARNETT & MAXWELL, P.C.

Salt Lake City, Utah

March 12, 2010
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ITEM 9B.

None.

OTHER ITEMS

PART IlI

Items10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 in Part IIl of this Reé@oe incorporated herein by reference to oumitdfe proxy statement for our 2010 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders scheduled for May 21, 20M@ intend to file our definitive proxy statemevith the SEC not later than 120 days
after December 31, 2009, pursuant to Regulation dfthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CO RPORATE GOVERNANCE

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFIC IAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRA NSACTIONS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVIC ES
PART IV
EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCH EDULES

Description

ITEM 10.

ITEM 11.

ITEM 12.

ITEM 13.

ITEM 14.

ITEM 15.

Exhibit Number
3.1*
3.2*
14*
21.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

Articles of Incorporation of Registrant as filedtiwthe State of Nevac
Bylaws of Registran

Code of Ethic:

List of subsidiarie:

Section 302 Certification of Principal Executivefiodr

Section 302 Certification of Principal Financialfioér

Section 906 Certification of Principal Executivefiodr

Section 906 Certification of Principal Financialfioér

* previously filed with the Securities and Exchangserminission
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of section 13 or 16f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regis has duly caused this Report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

ZAGG INCORPORATED

Dated: March 15, 2010 By: /s/ROBERT G. PEDERSEN II

Robert G. Pedersen

President, CEO and Chairman

(Principal Executive Officer
Dated: March 15, 201 By: /s BRANDON T. Q'BRIEN

Brandon T. CBrien

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Accounting and Financial Office
Dated: March 15, 201 By: /s/ LARRY HARMER

Larry Harmer
Director
Dated: March 15, 2010 By: /s/ ED EKSTROM

Ed Ekstromr
Director
Dated: March 15, 201 By: /s/ SHU UEYAMA

Shu Ueyama
Director
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EXHIBIT 21.1
Subsidiaries of ZAGG Incorporated
The subsidiaries of ZAGG Incorporated (the “Registf) as of March 15, 2010, are listed below:

Subsidiary Name Ownership Jurisdiction

ZAGG Europe Limitec 100% United Kingdom



EXHBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert G. Pedersen ll, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual RepartForm 10-K of ZAGG Incorporated for the year en@etember 31, 2009;

Based on my knowledge, this repogsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mateGalor omit to state a material fact necessary

to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of andHermeriods presented in this report.

4.

The registrant's other certifyin§jadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing emaihtaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(H and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a) designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlparédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control owearicial reporting, or caused such internal cordx@r financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitieral accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of gggatrant's disclosure controls and proceduregeesknted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any chanmgthe registrant's internal control over financggorted that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigis fourth fiscal quarter in case of an annepbrt) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggdan

The registrant's other certifyinfiadrs and | have disclosed, based on our moshtenealuation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatanommittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and niatkweaknesses in the design or operation of ialezontrol over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectbgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaize report financial information;
and

b) any fraud, whether or not materiadttinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrar
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 201
/sl ROBERT G. PEDERSEN

Robert G. Pedersen
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi



EXHBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

[, Brandon T. O’'Brien, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Repartfmrm 10-K of ZAGG Incorporated for the year en@etember 31, 2009;

Based on my knowledge, this repogsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mateGalor omit to state a material fact necessary

to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of andHermeriods presented in this report.

4.

The registrant's other certifyin§jadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing emaihtaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(H and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a) designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlpareédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control owearicial reporting, or caused such internal cordx@r financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitieral accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of gggatrant's disclosure controls and proceduregeesknted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any changthe registrant's internal control over financggorted that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigis fourth fiscal quarter in case of an annepbrt) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggdan

The registrant's other certifyinfiadrs and | have disclosed, based on our moshtenaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatanommittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and niatkweaknesses in the design or operation of ialezontrol over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial information;
and

b) any fraud, whether or not materiagttinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrar
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 201
/s BRANDON T. CBRIEN

Brandon T. O’Brien
Chief Financial Officel



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report oniRdr0-K of ZAGG Incorporated (the "Company") for thear ended December 31, 2009 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisstbe (Report”), I, Robert G. Pedersen II, Chief Exa® Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursadn®06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thath&ébest of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejugrements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemmsiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Refairly presents, in all material respects, timamcial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sIROBERT G. PEDERSEN
Robert G. Pedersen Il
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
March 15, 201(

This certification accompanies the Reparspant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley ARDOR and shall not, except to the extent
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be @ekfited by the Company for purposes of Sectionflie Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statemeajuired by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA@002 has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnishethé Securities and Exchange Commission or it gb@n request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report oniRdr0-K of ZAGG Incorporated (the "Company") for thear ended December 31, 2009 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisstbe (Report™), I, Brandon T. O’Brien, Chief FinaakOfficer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursadn®06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thath&ébest of my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with thejugrements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemmsiExchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Regairly presents, in all material respects, timafcial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sIBRANDON T. C BRIEN
Brandon T. CBrien
Chief Financial Officer
March 15, 201(

This certification accompanies the Reparspant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley ARDOR and shall not, except to the extent
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be @ekfiled by the Company for purposes of Sectiomflie Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statemeeadjuired by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA@002 has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnishethé Securities and Exchange Commission or it gb@n request.



